EFFECTS OF NUTRIENT SOURCES, HARVEST

FREQUENCY, AND ENVIRONMENTAL

CONDITIONS ON SWITCHGRASS

PRODUCTION AND SOIL

PROPERTIES

By

MA. LOURDES S. EDAÑO

Bachelor of Science in Agriculture University of the Philippines Los Baños Laguna, Philippines 1995

Master of Science in Agronomy University of the Philippines Los Baños Laguna, Philippines 2003

> Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY December, 2013

EFFECTS OF NUTRIENT SOURCES, HARVEST FREQUENCY AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS ON SWITCHGRASS PRODUCTION AND SOIL PROPERTIES

Dissertation Approved:

Dr. Hailin Zhang

Co-major Adviser

Dr. Gail W. T. Wilson

Co-major Adviser

Dr. Tyson Ochsner

Dr. Kefyalew G. Desta

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study would have not been completed without the support, guidance, patience and encouragement of the following people to whom I owe my deepest gratitude:

- Dr. Hailin Zhang who took me under his supervision and always challenges me to think outside the box and take things one step further. Your knowledge, wisdom, patience and encouragement inspired me to keep moving forward.
- Dr. Gail W.T. Wilson who is my co-adviser and has been with me from the beginning of my academic journey, thank you for giving me invaluable advice and spending so much of your time editing my writing. Your positive energy, passion in conducting research and helping people has truly inspired me. Thank you for believing in me when I am in doubt of myself.
- Dr. Kefyalew G. Desta who despite his busy schedule always finds time to share his thoughts and knowledge in statistics. Your good sense of humor surely lightens the load during fieldwork. Your patience and motivating words are greatly appreciated.
- Dr. Tyson Ochsner who made soil physics fun. Thank you for your valuable suggestions and insights on the research and for allowing me to use the yoder machine in the lab.
- Dr. Mark Payton who corrected my statistics program, thank you.
- To the research group under Dr. Desta (Michael Reinert, Yesuf Mohammed, Apurba Sutradhar, Muaid Ali) and Dr. Wilson (Leane Coppick, Shubha Shrestha, Adam Cobb, Mitch Greer, Morgan Noland) for the brainstorming, stimulating and enthusiastic discussions and participation in the research.
- To all the undergraduate students particularly Shana Lancaster and Eric Duell whom gave their assistance in conducting this research.
- To my sister and her family who had been a constant source of strength, laughter and support.
- To my Mom whose love and support knows no distance. Your constant prayers and encouragement helped me in this journey. This is for you and Tay.

Name: MA. LOURDES S. EDAÑO

Date of Degree: DECEMBER, 2013

Title of Study: EFFECTS OF NUTRIENT SOURCES, HARVEST FREQUENCY AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS ON SWITCHGRASS PRODUCTION AND SOIL PROPERTIES

Major Field: SOIL SCIENCE

Abstract: Switchgrass is considered a promising low-input biofuel feedstock. Previous development primarily focused on aboveground production, however, feedstock success will depend on identifying sustainable management practices that increase biomass yield for multiple purposes, while increasing soil quality. In this multi-site field study, effects of fertilizer and harvesting regimes on soil properties (Chapter 1) and above- and belowground biomass (Chapter 2) were assessed. A complementary greenhouse study assessed fertilizer management and environment (Chapter 3).

The field study evaluated soil organic matter (SOM), NO₃-N, plantavailable phosphorous (P), soil aggregate stability and microbial communities following applications of organic (cattle manure, poultry litter) and inorganic fertilizers, and inter-seeded legumes. A control (no fertilizer) was also included. Harvesting regimes included single harvest in the fall, and two harvests per year. The study was conducted in 2011 and 2012 at two central Oklahoma sites with previously established switchgrass (Alamo). Regardless of harvest frequency, application of poultry litter increased aboveground biomass and soil NO₃-N, P, SOM, and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal biomass, compared with the control. The use of organic fertilizer and inorganic NPK increased soil macroaggregates in the single harvest plots, compared to the control, which may improve water infiltration and decrease soil and nutrient loss due to water erosion. While the use of poultry litter increased aboveground biomass, soil P was markedly increased as well. Therefore, soil should be closely monitored to avoid P build-up and subsequent P loss to the environment.

The greenhouse study assessed above- and belowground parameters under different climatic conditions and fertilizer management. Increases in temperature and drought did not generally affect above- or belowground parameters. The only microbial community affected was mycorrhiza, with greater abundance under ambient, compared to warmer, drier conditions. This research supports switchgrass as a model perennial bioenergy crop producing high yields on marginal lands under wide environmental conditions.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. SOIL BIOTIC AND ABIOTIC PARAMETERS AS AFFECTED BY NUTRI SOURCES AND FREQUENCY OF SWITCHGRASS HARVESTING	ENT 1
	1 3
MATERIALS AND METHODS	7
Site Description	7
Experimental Design and Treatments	8
Soil Sampling	9
Soll Chemical Analysis	10 10
Soil Microbial Biomass Analysis	10
Statistical Analysis	12
RESULTS	14
Soil Chemical Properties	14
Soil Physical Property	16
DISCUSSIÓN AND COŃCLUSION	17
REFERENCES	25
TABLES	33
SWITCHGRASS ABOVEGROUND AND BELOWGROUND BIOMAS	
	00
	. 38
ABSTRACT	38
INTRODUCTION	40
MATERIALS AND METHODS	43
Site Description and Sampling	44 11
Statistical Analysis	44
RESULTS	46
Aboveground Biomass	46
Belowground Biomass	47

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	
REFERENCES	
TABLES	

III. EFFECTS OF WARMER AND DRIER CONDITION ON SWITCHGRASS PRODUCTION	57
ΔΟΣΤΟΛΟΤ	57
	57 59
MATERIALS AND METHODS	67
Soil Preparation	67
Switchgrass Collection and Establishment	67
Treatment and Experimental Design	68
Statistical Analysis	70
RESULTS	71
Above- and Belowground Biomass Production, Root: Shoot Ratio	71
Cellulose, Hemicellulose and Lignin	71
Soil Microbial Communities/Soil Biological Properties	72
Soil Chemical Properties	73
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION	74
	84
IABLES and FIGURE	93

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

CHAPTER I

Table 1.1	Total annual rainfall and mean annual air and soil temperature (12.7 cm soil depth) of Perkins and Lake Carl Blackwell, Oklahoma in 2011 and 2012
Table 1.2	Amount of N, P_2O_5 and K_2O applied, using different organic and inorganic amendments. These amendments were applied spring of each year (2009, 2010, 2011)
Table 1.3	. Mean soil nitrate and P availability and soil organic matter (SOM) of experimental plots at Lake Carl Blackwell and Perkins, Oklahoma. These values represent the combined means of these two locations
Table 1.4	. Mean soil microbial communities of experimental plots at Lake Carl Blackwell and Perkins, Oklahoma. These values represent the combined means of these two locations
Table 1.5	. Mean water-stable macroaggregate (%) following three years of nutrient amendments on experimental plots at Lake Carl Blackwell and Perkins, Oklahoma. These values represent the combined means of these two locations

CHAPTER II

- Table 2.1. Effects of different nutrient sources and switchgrass production (dual harvested twice a year vs sole harvested once a year) on switchgrass aboveground biomass at two locations Perkins and Lake Carl Blackwell, Oklahoma in 2011 and 2012......55

CHAPTER III

Table 3.1.	The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer on switchgrass root biomass, and root:shoot ratio
Table 3.2.	The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer on the cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin content (%) and cellulose:lignin of switchgrass
Table 3.3.	The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer on soil biological properties - microbial biomass using PLFA and expressed as nmol g ⁻¹ of soil
Table 3.4.	The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer on soil chemical properties

LIST OF FIGURE

Figure	Pa	ge
Figure 3.1	The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer (C=control/non-fertilized, N = nitrogen, NPK = nitrogen, phosphoru and potassium applied, PL = poultry litter) on the cellulose:lignin of switchgrass	s : 1

CHAPTER I

SOIL BIOTIC AND ABIOTIC PARAMETERS AS AFFECTED BY NUTRIENT SOURCES AND FREQUENCY OF SWITCHGRASS HARVESTING

ABSTRACT

Switchgrass is a promising native, low-input biofuel feedstock. Switchgrass development has focused primarily on aboveground production, however, success will depend on identifying sustainable management practices that maintain or improve soil quality while increasing biomass yield. A field study was conducted to assess soil microbial communities, organic matter, NO₃-N, plant-available P, and aggregate stability following applications of organic (cattle manure, poultry litter, inter-seeded legumes) and inorganic (urea, chemical NPK) fertilizers. A non-amended (no fertilizer) control was also included. Harvesting regimes included single fall harvest and both summer and fall harvests per year. This study was conducted in 2011 and 2012 at two sites previously established to the cultivar Alamo in central Oklahoma, as a split plot design with four replications. Regardless of harvest management, application of poultry litter increased NO₃-N, P, organic matter, and mycorrhizal fungal biomass, as compared with the non-fertilized control. The use of organic and inorganic fertilizer increased soil macroaggregates under single harvest, but not following

twice per year harvests. While the use of poultry litter improved in soil aggregate stability, soil P was markedly increased as well. Therefore, soil should be closely monitored to avoid P build-up and subsequent P loss into adjacent ecosystems.

INTRODUCTION

The Energy Independence and Security Act (EISA) of 2007 mandates that the United States increase its biofuel production to 136 billion liters from renewable resources by 2022 and 60 billion liters of biofuel should come from lignocellulosic materials (Biomass Research and Development Board 2008) to reduce both fuel costs and dependence on foreign oil, and provide economic alternatives for farmers (Sanderson et al. 1999). Switchgrass (SG) has been recognized as a potential biofuel feedstock because it is a perennial plant, has high biomass production potential, averaging 14.6 tonnes ha⁻¹ in a wide range of environments (McLaughlin and Kszos 2005), and can have a conversion of 0.34 L ethanol per kg of dry cellulosic biomass (Gutchick 2010). In addition, it can sequester large amounts of carbon into soils (Garten et al. 2010) because of its extensive roots that have been observed to grow deeper than 3 m (Ma et al. 2000); thus it has the potential to be more sustainable compared to corn-based ethanol production (Robertson et al. 2008).

Beef production is Oklahoma's largest agricultural sector and ranked 2nd in the US in 2010. In 2010, Oklahoma had an output of \$3.9 billion in livestock production (NASS Survey 2010) making it the most important source of revenue for agriculture in the state. Switchgrass can be a good source of forage for

haying or grazing during the early growth stage when its nutritive value is high. When allowed to re-grow and subsequently harvested at maturity, this crop can be used as a high quality biofuel feedstock (Guretzky et al. 2011). However, the use of switchgrass as a dual purpose crop may result in lower soil organic matter level due to large biomass removal (Balasko et al. 1984; Muir et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2007). In the long-term, this may reduce soil quality, consequently affecting the sustainability of biomass production. To achieve a sustainable dual purpose production of switchgrass, it is necessary to explore different nutrient sources and assess the resultant soil quality.

Nutrient sources can either be from organic amendments such as animal manure or plant residues which need to undergo decomposition to release nutrients, or from inorganic fertilizers. Inorganic fertilizers are readily available for plant uptake but require considerable fossil fuel inputs to produce. Poultry litter and cow manure are available in large quantities from many poultry and livestock operations in the US. Organic sources of nutrients add organic matter to the soil and can improve soil quality, which can be assessed by measuring physical, chemical, and biological properties of the soil. The concept of soil quality is based on the assumption that management can reduce, stabilize or increase ecosystem functions (Franzluebbers 2002). Thus, when assessing switchgrass production, the focus should not only be on aboveground biomass production, but what is happening belowground as well.

Soil microorganisms are critical to maintaining soil quality. They play an essential role in nutrient cycling, contributing to soil structure, aiding in the

degradation of pollutants, etc. (Bloem et al. 1994; Sylvia et al. 2005). Bacteria are the most abundant microorganism in soils. Other microorganisms found in the soil include fungi, actinomycetes, protozoa, viruses, and nematodes. Plant-soilmicrobe interactions are important in maintaining plant health, promoting plant communities (Wardle et al. 2004), soil fertility (Bargett et al. 2005), and carbon cycling (Kuzyakov et al. 2001; Johnson et al. 2002; Zhu and Miller 2003). Rhizosphere soil, the soil adjacent to the root, is characterized by close interactions between plant roots, soil microorganisms, nutrients, and water in the soil. This is a zone of high microbial activity and diversity (Jones and Hinsinger 2008) because plant roots secrete various organic exudates that stimulate the growth of soil microorganisms near the root surface. In a feedback mechanism, the soil microorganisms breakdown organic matter and make nutrients available for plant use, fix nitrogen and protect plant from pathogens (Jones and Hinsinger 2008).

Aggregate stability, the measure of soils' ability to retain its structure or resist disruption when there is a stress (Amezkéta 1999), is essential in minimizing erosion, enhancing infiltration and storage of water, maintaining or improving productivity due to improved water availability within the soil and providing a favorable environment for root growth. There are several factors affecting aggregate stability such as soil texture, tillage, soil amendments (Franzluebbers 2002; Nissen and Wander 2003), and microbial activities (Jastrow 1998).

Mycorrhizal fungi are known to form symbiotic relationship with plant roots. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) of the Phylum Glomeromycota are important for agriculture (Schussler et al. 2001). AMF form a symbiotic association with more than 80% of land plant families including agricultural crops (Gosling et al. 2006). AMF produces extraradical hyphae that may extend several centimeters out into the soil from the roots and significantly increase the total effective surface area which can increase plant nutrient uptake, particularly of immobile nutrients such as P (Smith and Reid 2008), improve water uptake or help in the plant's tolerance to drought (Augé 2004), enhance plant resistance to root pathogens (Azcon-Aguilar et al. 1996), aid in soil aggregation (Tisdall and Oades 1982; Miller and Jastrow 1990) and C sequestration (Wilson et al. 2009).

Switchgrass is known to have a symbiotic relationship with AMF, but to what extent AMF contributes to the resilience of switchgrass under stressful environment such as marginal soils and drought conditions has not been wellstudied. However, AMF has been shown to respond differently under different management practices such as fertilizer application (Johnson et al. 1997). Thus, the objective of my project was to study the effects of inorganic and organic nutrient sources on biomass production of switchgrass for forage and biofuel feedstock. Because belowground properties are critical to sustainable biofeedstock production, yet are infrequently assessed, my study extends belowground to include soil biological, chemical and physical properties, following amendments with inorganic or organic fertilizer.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site Description

This study was conducted at Perkins and Lake Carl Blackwell (LCB) research stations near Stillwater, Oklahoma in 2011 and 2012. The switchgrass (SG) stands used for this study were established in 2008 at Perkins and 2009 at Lake Carl Blackwell.

Plots at Perkins were located at the Cimarron Valley Research Station on the upper terrace of the Cimarron River. The soils at Perkins consist of Teller (mixed, active, thermic Udic Argiustolls) (USDA-NRCS Soil Taxonomy) and Konowa (mixed, active, thermic Ultic Haplustalfs) (USDA-NRCS Soil Taxonomy) series. These soils are deep, well-drained and moderately permeable. Prior to implementation of treatments, baseline soil pH ranged from 5.1 to 6.5. The average annual precipitation on this site is 926 mm (36.5 inches) with an average daily high temperature of 32.8 °C (91 °F) in the summer and an average daily low of -3.3 °C (26 °F) in the winter. The soil texture is sandy loam.

The soil at Lake Carl Blackwell is classified as Port silt loam (fine-silty, mixed, thermic Cumulic Haplustolls) (USDA-NRCS Soil Taxonomy) which is very deep, well-drained, moderately permeable usually located on floodplains that

may be subject to occasional or rare flooding. The average annual precipitation (2008 - 2010) was 937 mm (36.9 inches) with an average daily high temperature of 31.6 $^{\circ}$ C (89 $^{\circ}$ F) in the summer and an average daily low of -4.8 $^{\circ}$ C (23.4 $^{\circ}$ F) in the winter. Table 1.1 shows the annual rainfall and temperature of each switchgrass experimental site during the course of this study.

Experimental Design and Treatments

The experiment was a split plot with four replicates. Dual purpose switchgrass (dual) and sole purpose switchgrass (sole) treatments were assigned to main plots. Dual purpose switchgrass was harvested in July and November, whereas, the sole purpose was harvested in November only. Sub-plot treatments were nutrient sources: cow manure (CM), poultry litter (PL), chemical N fertilizer (N), chemical NPK fertilizer (NPK), a legume inter-seeded in switchgrass (L), and a non-fertilized control (C). The sub-plot area was 3.05 m wide and 4.6 m long. The main plot area was 6.1 m wide and 13.7 m long.

The sources of chemical fertilizers were urea, triple super phosphate (TSP) and potassium chloride (KCl) for N, P, and K, respectively (Table 1.2). The N treatment received 150 kg N ha⁻¹, and the NPK treatment received 150, 40, and 20 kg N, P_2O_5 , and K_2O ha⁻¹, respectively. Cow manure and poultry litter were applied based on an N rate of 150 kg ha⁻¹. These fertilizer treatments were applied in spring 2009, 2010, and 2011. No fertilizers were applied in 2012. Nitrogen fertilizer applications were split, with 1/3 (50 kg N ha⁻¹) applied before

greening and the remaining 2/3 (100 kg N ha⁻¹) applied eight days after the first harvest to stimulate regrowth. Table 1.2 shows the amount of N, P₂O₅, and K₂O applied for all treatments.

A lowland switchgrass variety 'Alamo' was planted in July 2008 at Perkins and in April 2009 at Lake Carl Blackwell at a seeding rate of 6 kg ha⁻¹. Alamo was used in the study as this is the most adapted cultivar for the south-central US (Muir et al., 2001). Seeds of switchgrass were drilled into a well-prepared seedbed with a conventional drill into 1.5 cm deep and 36 cm wide rows. Crimson clover (*Trifolium incarnatum* L.) was planted in spring 2009, 2010 and 2011 as one of the treatments at 12 kg ha⁻¹ in between switchgrass rows and inoculated with appropriate *Rhizobia* spp. before planting to enhance symbiotic nitrogen fixation.

Soil Sampling

Soil samples (0-10 cm) were collected from each plot in spring (prior to fertilizer application) and fall of 2011 and 2012. Sampling depth was limited to the upper 10 cm of the soil profile where the majority of the soil microbial activity occurs (Eilers et al. 2012). Six core samples per plot were collected, and pooled as a composite sample. Soil samples were placed on ice and returned to the laboratory. Field moist samples were sieved through a 2 mm sieve. Analyses for NO₃-N, plant available P and K, pH, and OM were conducted on air dried soil samples. The remaining soil was freeze-dried and ground for microbial analysis.

Soil Chemical Analysis

Soil NO₃-N was extracted by 1M KCl solution and analyzed using the Lachat Quickchem 8000 Flow Injection Autoanalyzer (Kachurina et al. 2000). Two grams of soil were extracted with 20 ml Mehlich 3 solution for plant available P and K, and the concentrations of P and K in the extract were measured by an inductively coupled plasma emission spectroscopy (ICP) (Pittman et al. 2005). Soil pH was measured using a pH electrode in a 1:1 soil to water suspension. Soil organic matter (SOM) was determined by dry combustion using the LECO Truspec CN analyzer (Nelson and Sommers 1996).

Soil Aggregate Stability

Soil samples were collected using a spade at 30 cm depth and passed through an 8 mm sieve to remove large roots, and small stones. This soil was then further sieved through a 4 mm sieve. The soil remaining on the 8 mm and the 4 mm sieve were collected and air-dried overnight. Aggregates that remained on the 4 mm sieve were used for further analysis to assess waterstable aggregate stability. Geometric mean diameter and size distribution of aggregates were determined by the wet-sieving method using a modified Yoder machine (Yoder 1936; Low 1954). The Yoder machine consists of two columns of five sieves with different mesh sizes (4, 2, 1, 0.5 and 0.25 mm) held together by a spring in each column. Fifty grams of the air-dried sample were placed on the top sieve with the largest opening (4 mm). The column was slowly lowered into a 15 liter water-filled container until the samples were submerged. The samples were allowed to soak for 10 min, followed by 10 min of agitation cycle where sieves were moved vertically at a rate of 30 cycles per minute. Finally, soils were collected from each sieve, dried and weighed. The water stable aggregates and size distribution based on the amount of soil remaining on each sieve were calculated using the following equations:

 $GMD = \exp[\sum_{i=1}^{n} wi \log xi / \sum_{i=1}^{n} wi]$ [Eqn. 1]

where GMD is the geometric mean diameter; *x* is the mean diameter for the *i*th size; *w* is the aggregate weight for the *i*th size class and $\sum_{i}^{n} = wi$ is the total weight of the sample.

where ASD stands for the aggregate size distribution. Macroaggregates were those >0.25 mm and microaggregates were <0.25 mm in diameter (Six et al. 2004; Po et al. 2008).

Soil Microbial Biomass Analysis

The soil microbial biomass was determined using the phospholipid fatty acid analysis (PLFA) which is based on the extraction of lipids from the cell membranes and walls of microorganisms (Kaur et al. 2005). The lipids were extracted using five grams of freeze-dried soil mixed with chloroform:methanol: phosphate buffer (1:2:0.8 v/v/v). The soil-solvent mixture was separated by centrifugation (10 min at 1800 rpm) and decanted. Re-extraction was done by adding chloroform and repeating the centrifugation and collection of supernatant.

Phosphate buffer was added to the supernatant and was left overnight to allow the separation of the organic phase. The organic phase containing the lipids were recovered and concentrated by nitrogen gas flow at 50 °C. The total extracted lipids were separated with solvents such as chloroform, acetone and methanol into neutral lipids, glycolipids and phospholipids, respectively through silicic acid chromatography. Phospholipid fatty acid analysis was performed using Agilent 7890A gas chromatography with an Agilent 5975C series mass selective detector (GC-MS). Methyl nonadecanoate fatty acid (19:0) was used as the internal standard for all the samples. The following fatty acids were chosen to represent the gram positive bacteria: i15:0, a15:0, i16:0, i17:0, a17:0; for gram negative bacteria: 3-OH 14:0, 16:1 Δ9 (16:1ω7), 17:0 Δ9,10 (cy17:0), 2-OH 16:0, 19:0 Δ 9,10 (cy19:0), 2-OH 12:0; for AMF: 16:1 Δ 11(16:1 ω 5c), 20:1 ω 9, 22:1 ω 13; for saprophytic fungi: 18:1 Δ 9 (18:1 ω 9c), 18:2 Δ 9,12 (18:2 ω 9) and for non-specific microbes 14:0, 15:0, 16:0, 17:0, 18:0, 20:0 (Zelles, 1999). The total microbial biomass or relative abundance of each functional group was expressed as nmol g^{-1} of soil.

Statistical Analysis

Data pertaining to soil properties were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (SAS Institute, 2008). Year was treated as a repeated measure, with averages overtime within a year were calculated and analyzed. The size distribution of soil aggregates in percentage were transformed using arcsine square root but the original means were presented. Harvest frequency,

nutrient sources and year were considered fixed effects, whereas location and replication were considered as random effects. Location x harvest frequency, location x nutrient source interactions were not significant for the soil chemical, biological, and physical properties/variables (P > 0.05), but harvest frequency x year and nutrient source x year interactions were significant for some soil variables (P <0.05). Mean comparisons were made using Fisher's protected LSD test (α =0.05).

RESULTS

Soil Chemical Properties

Among the chemical properties tested, only soil NO₃-N was significantly different between dual (twice harvested) and sole purpose (single harvest) switchgrass treated with poultry litter in both years, and for those applied with cow manure in 2012 (Table 1.3). Switchgrass harvested twice had less soil NO₃-N than the single harvest. There was no significant difference in NO₃-N, P, or pH between dual and sole for the non-fertilized control, treatment with inter-seeded legumes, or treatments receiving inorganic fertilizers. Nutrient sources had significant effects on soil pH, NO_3 -N, and available P in both years. In general, application of organic fertilizers increased soil pH (from moderately acidic to slightly acidic, pH range of 5.9-6.0 to 6.1-6.6). Plots receiving inorganic fertilizers remained moderately acidic (Table 1.3). Switchgrass plots receiving animal manure (poultry litter and cow manure) resulted in greater NO₃-N, available P and SOM. In fact, plots receiving organic fertilizer had three times as much plantavailable P as the control or those receiving inorganic fertilizers in 2011, and nearly twice as much in 2012. SOM was significantly greater in treatments with organic fertilizer, as compared to those of inorganic fertilizer in 2012. Treatments with inter-seeded legumes had significantly lower NO₃-N, P, SOM and pH, as compared to those receiving organic fertilizers. However, there were no

significant differences between the non-fertilized control and soil receiving applications of inorganic fertilizer (Table 1.3).

Soil Biological Properties

The evaluated soil biological properties were significantly different between single (sole) and twice (dual-purpose) harvested in 2011, but not in 2012 (Table 1.4). Soil from the sole purpose switchgrass plots that received applications of poultry litter contained greater abundances in total soil microbial biomass (TMB), AMF and saprophytic fungi, compared to soil from the dualpurpose switchgrass plots. Soil from the sole purpose switchgrass plots that received inorganic N also were characterized by greater TMB and saprophytic fungi, compared to soil from the corresponding dual purpose plots receiving N fertilization (Table 1.4).

Total microbial biomass, AMF, gram positive and gram negative bacteria, and saprophytic fungi were significantly affected by the nutrient sources in 2011. Total microbial biomass in soils following applications of cow manure was greater, as compared to the non-fertilized control, soil from the inter-seeded legume plots, or NPK fertilization for both dual (twice harvested) and sole purpose (single harvest) in 2011. In 2011, gram positive, gram negative and saprophytic fungi were significantly greater in sole purpose applied with poultry litter, cow manure and inorganic N than in the control and plots with inter-seeded legumes. AMF in sole purpose was greater in organic fertilizer treatments than the rest of the treatments. AMF and gram negative bacteria in twice harvested

plots applied with cow manure were greater than the control and those that received poultry litter, nitrogen, NPK, and inter-seeded with legumes. In 2011, saprophytic fungi was greater in twice harvested plots applied with cow manure than control, nitrogen and NPK, but was not significantly different from those applied with poultry litter and inter-seeded with legumes. In 2012, saprophytic fungi were greater in single harvested plots applied with cow manure and poultry litter than control and plots inter-seeded with legume and applied with NPK.

Soil Physical Property

Single harvested switchgrass plots treated with cow manure, NPK and inter-seeded with legume had more water-stable macroaggregates than those in plots harvested twice a year. In general, the plots with single harvesting had more macroaggregates than those plots harvested twice a year (Table 1.5).

DISCUSSION

Management practices such as fertilization and harvesting frequency influence the soil chemical and biological properties. Dual-purpose switchgrass (harvested twice a year) depletes soil nutrients and moisture, used by the plants for regrowth, and this potentially impacts the ability for continuous productivity (Muir et al. 2001). This is presumably the reason that the dual purpose switchgrass plots (harvested twice a year) had lower soil NO₃-N than the corresponding sole purpose plots (harvested once a year). Guretzky et al. (2011) reported that nutrient removal was doubled when switchgrass was harvested twice a year compared to harvesting once a year. However, the biomass yields of dual-purpose switchgrass were equal (2012) to or slightly higher (2011) than the sole purpose in this study (see chapter 2), so the difference of nutrient removed between those two harvest frequencies was less than that of Guretzky et al. (2011). In my study, the use of organic fertilizers for sole purpose production was advantageous, as compared to inorganic amendments, as the organic amendments provided greater soil NO₃-N. Greater nitrate in the organic amended treatments may be the result of slow mineralization of the applied organic N. A long-term study on wheat receiving inorganic fertilizer or manure showed an increase of nitrate levels in the manure plots compared to the inorganic fertilized plots (Boman et al. 1996). Powlson et al. (1989) found a

similar trend of increased nitrate levels on manured plots. Plant available P in organic fertilizer treatments was greater than the phosphorus levels in the inorganic treated plots. This is likely due to the high levels of P available in the manure applications. The amount of phosphorus applied depended on typical N applications for switchgrass feedstock production, and the phosphorus exceeded the amount required by switchgrass(Table 1.2). Therefore, the N-based manure application rate resulted in soil phosphorus accumulation. Furthermore, a study conducted in a low P soil also found little response in Alamo switchgrass biomass production following yearly applications of phosphorus (Muir et al. 2001). This supports my hypothesis that there is an innately low phosphorus requirement for this cultivar of switchgrass, and adding N-based organic fertilizer may exceed P requirement, resulting in P loss in erosion and run-off. This should be an important management consideration when applying organic fertilizer. This result indicates that soil P should be closely monitored following organic fertilizers, and applications of organic amendments may need to base on P requirements, rather than N requirements, to minimize P run-off and water quality deterioration (Sharpley 2006).

Addition of organic fertilizers in the form of animal manure increased SOM, as compared to soil from the inorganic or control treatments, although this was evident only after three years of continuous application. However, it has been reported that soil organic matter increased with manure application, compared with fertilizers in the first year following application (Edmeades 2003). In my study, soil pH was greater following applications of organic fertilizers. This

is consistent with the findings of Fließbach and Mäder (2000). As expected, organic fertilizers added organic matter into the soil, thus improving soil buffering capacity. A study that compared conventional agriculture with organic farming management reported that an increase in soil pH in acidic soils is frequently observed (Clark et al. 1998; Fließbach and Mäder 2000; Das and Dkhar 2011). The application of inorganic fertilizers in this study decreased soil pH, making the soil more acidic. Similar results have been reported by Hopkins et al. (2011). The increases in urea applications acidify the soil through biological processes where the ammonium is oxidized to NO₃⁻, releasing H⁺ to the system (Brady and Weil 2008). In this study, all soil pH levels, however, were within the range of optimum growth of switchgrass (soil pH 5.0 – 7.0) (Lemus 2008).

The soil microbial community composition can be influenced by several confounding factors such as management, environment, and their interactions with each other, plants, and soil micro- and macrofauna. In my study, soil applied with animal manure, particularly cow manure, had the greatest microbial biomass. This is similar to the findings of Kong et al. (2011). Both in this study and Kong et al. (2011), gram positive bacteria dominated the microbial communities in soils from all nutrient sources. Fungal:bacterial ratios observed in this study ranged from 0.28 to 0.45 for all fertilization treatments, which were close to those of de Vries et al. (2006), but slightly higher than the ratio reported by Kong et al. (2011).

Gram positive and gram negative bacteria were not affected by switchgrass harvest frequency, but were significantly affected by nutrient sources

(Table 1.4). This could be due to the increased availability of N in the organic fertilizer amended soils, as these amendments could be utilized for microbial metabolism. Mycorrhizal and saprophytic fungi were significantly affected by both inorganic and organic nutrient sources, and also by harvest frequency. Sole purpose switchgrass harvest had greater fungal biomass than those harvested twice each year. This could be attributed to a more extensively established root system and a continuous source of photosynthates from the aboveground biomass, compared to that of the dual harvest treatment. Switchgrass is noted for deep extensive roots, beneficial in storing carbon (Ma et al. 2000). Single harvest of switchgrass will allow continuous growth throughout the year, providing the photosynthesized carbon to the roots, increasing root biomass and providing carbon and essential nutrients to symbiotic organisims such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Indeed, greater fungal and bacterial biomass has been reported in soils treated with animal manure (Tu et al. 2006). Manure application not only provided an abundance of carbohydrates readily available to soil microorganisms, but these organic amendments added additional bacteria contained within the manure, as well. Harris et al. (1994) found that N mineralization was the greatest in manure amended plots, suggesting that the microorganisms are either active or abundant. As organic matter can be decomposed more rapidly in the presence of greater microbial biomass, it is likely that the greater amounts of nitrate and phosphorus can be attributed to the increased decomposition of organic matter, with a concomitant continuous release of nutrients. Addition of inorganic fertilizers, which are highly soluble,

have been reported to increase soil N availability, resulting in decreased microbial respiration (Ramirez et al. 2010). While it is not clearly understood why microbial respiration decreased with the addition of N-based inorganic fertilizer, Ramirez et al. (2010) suggest that it could be strongly related to the direct application and the fertilizer concentration. Ramirez et al. (2010) however, did not compare this effect with organic fertilizers. Ladd et al. (1994) also reported inorganic or mineral fertilizers suppressed soil microbes in an agricultural setting.

Soil aggregation is a result of interactions of internal physical, chemical and biological properties of the soil. Soil organic carbon acts as a binding agent and a basis in the aggregate formation. Soil microorganisms and their organic byproducts, root exudates and the rate of decomposition of roots and organic matter all can affect aggregate formation. Aggregates are typically grouped into macroaggregates (>0.25 mm) and microaggregates (<0.25 mm) by their waterstable sizes (Tisdall and Oades, 1982). Macroaggregates can develop from and around particulate organic matter (POM) (Bronick and Lal 2005). The percent of water-stable macroaggregates from soil collected from sole purpose switchgrass plots that were treated with inorganic (NPK), organic (manure), or seeded with legumes were greater than those of corresponding dual purpose plots. This could be an interaction among the plant-soil-microbes and the harvesting management. When switchgrass is harvested once a year, its growth cycle is uninterrupted and the plant is able to continue growth and expand biomass production both belowground and aboveground. With the continuous supply of photosynthates, increased root exudates produce additional binding agents for the soil particles to

adhere, forming water-stable macroaggregates. Hutch et al. (2002) reviewed several studies on plant rhizodeposition and found that, typically, plant species release about 20% of carbon used in photosynthesis as root exudates. Paynel et al. (2001) and Aulakh et al. (2001a and 2001b) demonstrated that different plant species and cultivars have different root exudation patterns. Increases in root exudates may be important to soil quality, as Traore et al. (2000) found that root mucilage and polygalacturonic acid were effective in increasing soil aggregate stability. Polygalacturonic acid may stabilize aggregates by increasing bond strength (Csarnes et al. 2000). Studies by Shepherd et al. (2001) and Debosz et al. (2002) reported an increase in concentration of carbohydrates as well as an increase in macroaggregation, following the addition of manure and use of cover crops. When microbes decompose particulate organic matter, they produce polysaccharides that act as a binding agent (Jastrow 1996). Humic substances from added organic matter can also increase aggregate stability and reduce dispersion due to wet-dry cycles (Piccolo et al. 1997). Increases in macroaggregates are associated with increases in fungal activities and fresh residues (Denef et al. 2001). Wilson et al. (2009) found soil aggregation was tightly correlated with the abundance of AM fungal hyphae. Aggregate formation and stabilization is promoted by AM fungi hyphae and fibrous root growth (Jastrow 1987; Miller and Jastrow 1990; Jastrow et al. 1998).

In this study, macroaggregate formation was not greater in soils amended with organic fertilizer, as compared to corresponding plots receiving inorganic fertilizer amendments. Previous studies have shown increases in

macroaggregate formation following organic fertilizer application, compared to inorganic fertilizer amendments (Shepherd et al. 2001; Debosz et al. 2002; Wortmann and Shapiro 2008). In a 5 year field experiment, Celik et al. (2004) found that water stable aggregates were 65% greater with the application of manure or compost than treatments without manure or compost applied. Soil water holding capacity was also increased by 85 and 56% compared to the control with compost and manure applied, respectively. Wortmann and Shapiro (2008) found over 200% increase in large macro-aggregates (>2 mm) in both manure and compost applications within 15 days of application which was attributed to the consolidation of micro-aggregates. This is in contrast to the findings of Foster (2011) where long-term applications of manure increased the amount of microaggregates due to drying of the soil, following an increase in biomass yield. Similar results to this study were however observed by Whalen and Chang (2002) where long-term applications of cattle manure did not improve macroaggregates due to the presence of dispersing agent in the manure. Reduction of macroaggregates can also be due to the process of rewetting the dry soil that can cause the destruction of aggregates due to build-up of air pressure inside the aggregates (Singer et al. 1992). Rewetting of moist soil results in less destruction of the aggregates compared to rewetting of dry soil (Denef et al. 2002). In a long-term study in Kansas, application of inorganic fertilizer in an irrigated corn field did increase soil organic carbon (SOC) but did not improve aggregate stability (Blanco-Canqui and Schlegel 2013).

Sole purpose (harvesting once a year) resulted in a positive effect on soil chemical, biological and physical properties, presumably due to improved plant-soil-microbe interactions. Similarly, adding organic fertilizer such as cow manure and poultry litter increased soil pH, NO₃-N, plant-available P, SOM, total microbial biomass, gram positive, gram negative, AMF, saprophytic fungi and fungal:bacterial ratio. Use of organic fertilizer particularly animal manure has a potential to maintain soil fertility because of the slow release of nutrients but one should be cautious of soil P build-up and future problems of P loss to water quality when manure application rate is based on N requirement of the crop.

References

- Amezkéta, E. 1999. Soil Aggregate Stability: A Review. Journal of Sustainable Agriculture. 14: 2, 83 151.
- Augé, R.M. 2004. Arbuscular mycorrhizae and soil/plant water relations. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 84: 373-381.
- Aulakh, M.S., R. Wassmann, C. Bueno, J. Kreuzweiser and J. Rennenberg. 2001a. Characterization of root exudates at different growth stages of ten rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars. Plant Biology 3:139.148.
- Aulakh, M.S., R. Wassmann, C. Bueno, J. Kreuzweiser and J. Rennenberg. 2001b. Impact of root exudates of different cultivars and plant development stages of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) on methane production in a paddy soil. Plant Soil 230:77-86.
- Azcon-Aguilar, C. and J.M. Barea.1996. Arbuscular mycorrhizas and biological control of soil-borne plant pathogens An overview of the mechanisms involved. Mycorrhiza 6:457-464.
- Balasko, J. A., D. M. Burner, and W. V. Thayne. 1984. Yield and quality of switchgrass grown without soil amendments. Agronomy Journal 76:204-208.
- Bargett. R.D., W.D. Bowman, R. Kaufmann and S.K. Schmidt. 2005. A temporal approach to linking aboveground and belowground ecology. Trends in Ecology and Evolution 20:634-641.

Biomass Research and Development Board. 2008. National Biofuels Action Plan.

- Blanco-Canqui, H. and A.J. Schlegel. 2013. Implications of Inorganic Fertilization of Irrigated Corn on Soil Properties: Lessons Learned after 50 Years. Journal of Environmental Quality 42:861-871.
- Bloem, J., P. de Ruiter, and L.A. Bowman. 1994. Soil food webs and nutrient cycling in agro-ecosystems. In Modern Soil Microbiology. Eds. Van Elsas, J.D., J.T. Trevors, and H.M.E. Wellington. Marcel Dekker, New York. pp. 245-278.

- Boman, R.K., S.L. Taylor, W.R. Raun, G.V. Johnson D.J. Bernardo and L.L. Singleton. 1996. The Magruder Plots: a century of wheat research in Oklahoma. Department of Agronomy, OSU, Stillwater, OK.
- Brady, N.C. and R.R. Weil. 2008. The nature and property of soils. 14th ed. Pearson Prentice Hall, New Jersey. p. 375
- Bronick, C.J. and R. Lal. 2005. Soil structure and management: a review. Geoderma 124:3-22.
- Celik, I., I. Ortas and S. Kilic. 2004. Effects of compost, mycorrhiza, manure and fertilizer on some physical properties of a Chromoxerert soil. Soil Tillage Research 78:59-67.
- Clark, M., W.R. Sean, C. Horwath, C. Shennan, K.M. Scow. 1998. Changes in soil chemical properties resulting from organic and low-input farming practices. Agronomy Journal 90:662-671.
- Caesar-Ton-That and Cochran. 2001.Role of a saprophytic basidiomycete in aggregate stabilization. In: DE Stott, RH Mohtar and GC Steinhardt (eds). Sustaining the Global Farm. pp. 575-579.
- Das, B.B. and M.S. Dkhar. 2011. Rhizosphere microbial populations and physic chemical properties as affected by organic and inorganic farming practices. American-Eurasian Journal of Agriculture and Environmental Science 10: 140-150.
- Debosz, K., L. Vognsen, R. Labouriau. 2002. Carbohydrates in hot water extracts of soil aggregates as influenced by long-term management. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 33:623-634.
- Denef, K., J. Six, R. Merckx, K. Paustian. 2002. Short-term effects of biological and physical forces on aggregate formation in soils with different clay mineralogy. Plant Soil 246:185-200.
- de Vries, F.T., E. Hofflanda, N. van Eekeren, L. Brussaard, J. Bloem. 2006. Fungal/bacterial ratios in grasslands with contrasting nitrogen management. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 38:2092-2103.
- Edmeades, D.C. 2003. The long-term effects of manures and fertilizers on soil productivity and quality: a review. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 66:165-180.
- Eilers, K.G., S. Debenport, S. Anderson and N. Fierer. 2012. Digging deeper to find unique microbial communities: The strong effect of depth on the structure of bacterial and archaeal communities in soil. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 50:58-65.

- Fließbach and Mäder 2000. Microbial biomass and size-density fractions differ between soils of organic and conventional agricultural systems. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 32:757-768.
- Foster, A.J. 2011. Long term application of poultry litter to improve soil aggregate stability under cool and warm season grasses. Turkish Journal of Field Crops 16:108-116.
- Franzluebbers, A.J. 2002. Soil organic matter stratification ratio as an indicator of soil quality. Soil and Tillage Research 66:95-106.
- Garten, C.T., Smith, J.L., Tyler, D.D., Amonette, J.E., Bailey, V.L., Brice, D.J., Castro, H.F., Graham, R.L., Gunderson, C.A., Izaurralde, R.C., Jardine, P.M., Jastrow, J.D., Kerley, M.K., Matamala, R., Mayes, M.A., Metting, F.B., Miller, R.M., Moran, K.K., Post, W.M., Sands, R.D., Schadt, C.W., Phillips, J.R., Thomson, A.M., Vugteveen, T., West, T.O., Wullschleger, S.D., 2010. Intra-annual changes in biomass, carbon, and nitrogen dynamics at 4-year old switchgrass field trials in west Tennessee, USA. Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment 136:177–184.
- Gosling, P., A. Hodge, G. Goodlass and G.D. Bending. 2006. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and organic farming. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 113:17-35.
- Guretzky, J.A., J.T. Biermacher, B.J. Cook, M.K. Kering and J. Mosali. 2011. Switchgrass for forage and bioenergy: harvest and nitrogen rate effects on biomass yields and nutrient composition. Plant and Soil: An International Journal on Plant-Soil Relationships 339:69-81.
- Gutchick, V. 2010. Switchgrass as biofuel. Accessed on August 17, 2012 at <u>http://gcconsortium.com/Switchgrass_report.html</u>.
- Hopkins, D.W., IS Waite, AG O'Donnel. 2011. Microbial biomass, organic matter mineralization and nitrogen in soils from long-term experimental grassland plots (Palace Leas meadow hay plots, UK). European Journal of Soil Science 62:95-104.
- Hutsch B., J. Augustin, and W. Merbach. 2002. Plant rhizodeposition an important source for carbon turnover in soils. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 165:397-407.
- Jastrow, J.D. 1987. Changes in soil aggregation associated with tallgrass prairie restoration. American Journal of Botany. 74:1656–1664.
- Jastrow, J.D., 1996. Soil aggregate formation and the accrual of particulate and mineral-associated organic matter. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 28, 665– 676.
- Jastrow, J.D., Miller, R.M. and Lussenhop, J. 1998. Interactions of biological mechanisms contributing to soil aggregate stabilization in restored prairie. Soil Biology & Biochemistry. 30:905–916.
- Johnson, N.C., J.H. Graham and F.A. Smith. 1997. Functioning of mycorrhizal associations along the mutualism-parasitism continuum. New Phytology 135:575-585.
- Johnson, D., J.R. Leake and D.J. Read. 2002. Transfer of recent photosynthate into mycorrhizal mycelium of an upland grassland: short-term respiratory losses and accumulation of ¹⁴C. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 34:1521-1524.
- Jones, D.L. and P. Hinsinger. 2008. The rhizosphere: complex by design. Plant Soil 312:1–6.
- Kachurina, O.M., H. Zhang, W.R. Raun, and E.G. Krenzer. 2000. Simultaneous determination of soil aluminum, ammonium- and nitrate-nitrogen using 1 M potassium chloride extraction. Communication Soil Science and Plant Analysis 31:893-903.
- Kaur, A., A. Chaudhary, A. Kaur, R. Choudhary and R. Kaushik. 2005.
 Phospholipid fatty acid a bioindicator of environment monitoring and assessment in soil ecosystem. Current Science 89:1103-1112.
- Kong, A.Y.Y., K.M. Scow, A.L. Córdova-Kreylos, W.E. Holmes, J. Six. 2011. Microbial community composition and carbon cycling within soil microenvironments of conventional, low-input and organic cropping systems. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 43:20-30.
- Kuzyakov, Y., H. Ehrensberger, K. Stahr. 2001. Carbon partitioning and belowground translocation by *Lolium perenne*. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 33:61-74.
- Ladd, J.N., M. Amato, Y. Li-Kai, and Schultz, J.E. 1994. Differential effects of rotation, plant residue and nitrogen fertilizer on microbial biomass and organic matter in an Australian alfisol. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 26: 821–831.
- Lee, D. K., V. N. Owens, and J. J. Doolittle. 2007. Switchgrass and soil carbon sequestration response to ammonium nitrate, manure, and harvest

frequency on Conservation Reserve Program Land. Agronomy Journal 99: 462-468.

- Lemus R. 2008. Establishing and managing switchgrass as a forage. Forage News. Mississippi State University Extension Service. pp. 1-3. <u>http://msucares.com/crops/forages/newsletters/08/8.pdf</u>
- Lemus, R., D.J. Parrish and D.D. Wolf. 2009. Nutrient uptake by "Alamo" switchgrass used as an energy crop. Bioenergy Research 2:37-50.
- Low, A.J., 1954. The study of soil structure in the field and in the laboratory. Journal of Soil Science. 5:57-77.
- Ma, Z., C.W. Wood and D.I. Bransby. 2000. Impacts of soil management on root characteristics of switchgrass. Biomass and Bioenergy 18:105-112.
- McLaughlin S.B. and L.A. Kszos. 2005. Development of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) as a bioenergy feedstock in the United States. Biomass and Bioenergy 28:515-535.
- Miller, R.M. and J.D. Jastrow. 1990. Hierarchy of root and mycorrhizal fungal interactions with soil aggregation. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 22:579-584.
- Muir, J.P., M.A. Sanderson, W.A. Ocumpaugh, R.M. Jones, and R.L. Reed. 2001. Biomass production of 'Alamo' switchgrass in response to nitrogen, phosphorus, and row spacing. Agronomy Journal 93:896–901.
- NASS Survey. 2010. http://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics_by_State/Ag_Overview/AgOverview_OK.pdf
- Nelson, D.W., Sommers, L.E., 1996. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter, in: Sparks, D.L., Page, A.L., Helmke, P.A., Loeppert, R.H., Soltanpour, P.N., Tabatabai, M.A., Johnston, C.T., Sumner, M.E. (Eds.), Methods of soil analysis. Soil Science Society of America Inc., Madison, pp. 961-1010.
- Nissen, T.M. and M.M. Wander. 2003. Management and soil quality effects on fertilizer-use efficiency and leaching. Soil Science Society of America Journal 67:1524-1532.
- Olness, A., D. Lopez, D. Archer, J. Cordes, C. Sweeney, N. Mattson, J. Rinke and W.B. Voorhess. 2001. Factors affecting microbial formation of nitratenitrogen in soil and their effects on fertilizer nitrogen use efficiency. Scientific World Journal Supplement 2:122-129.
- Paynel, F., P.J. Murray and J.B. Cliquet. 2001. Root exudates: a pathway for short-term N transfer from clover and ryegrass. Plant Soil 229:235.243.

- Piccolo, A., G. Pietramellara and J.S.C. Mbagwu. 1997. Use of humic substances as soil conditioner to increase aggregate stability. Geoderma 75:267-277.
- Pittman, J.J., H. Zhang, J. Schroder, M. Payton. 2005. Differences of Phosphorus in Mehlich 3 Extracts Determined by Colorimetric and Spectroscopic Methods. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 36:1641–1659.
- Po, E.A., S.S. Snapp and A Kraychenko. 2008. Rotational and cover crop determinants of soil structural stability and carbon in a potato system. Agronomy Journal 101:175-183.
- Powlson, D.S., P.R. Poulton, T.M. Addiscott and D.S. McCann. 1989. Leaching of nitrate from soils receiving organic and inorganic fertilisers continuously for 135 years. In Hansen, IA and Hendrikson K (eds.) Nitrogen in Organic Wastes Applied to Soils. Academic Press, London.
- Ramirez, K.S., J.M. Craine, N. Fierer. 2010. Nitrogen fertilization inhibits soil microbial respiration regardless of the form of nitrogen applied. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 42:2336-2338.
- Robertson, G.P., Dale, V.H., Doering, O.C., Hamburg, S.P., Melillo, J.M.,
 Wander, M.M., Parton, W.J., Adler, P.R., Barney, J.N., Cruse, R.M., Duke,
 C.S., Fearnside, P.M., Follett, R.F., Gibbs, H.K., Goldemberg, J.,
 Mladenoff, D.J., Ojima, D., Palmer, M.W., Sharpley, A., Wallace, L.,
 Weathers, K.C., Wiens, J.A., Wilhelm,W.W., 2008. Agriculture: sustainable
 biofuels redux. Science 322:49–50.
- Sanderson, M.A., J.C. Read, and R.L. Reed. 1999. Harvest management of switchgrass for biomass feedstock and forage production. Agronomy Journal 91:5-10.
- SAS Institute. 2008. SAS/STAT Users guide: Release 9.2 ed. SAS Inst. Cary, NC.
- Schussler, A., D. Schwarzott and C. Walker. 2001. A new fungal phylum, the Glomeromycota: phylogeny and evolution. Mycology Research 105:1413-1421.
- Sharpley A. 2006. Agricultural Phosphorus Management: Protecting Production and Water Quality. USDA-Agricultural Research Service. Accessed on July 23, 2012 at <u>http://www.extension.org/pages/14862/lesson-34-</u> <u>agricultural-phosphorus-management-protecting-production-and-waterguality</u>.

- Shepherd,T.G., S. Saggar, R.H. Newman, C.W. Ross, J.L. Dando. 2001. Tillageinduced changes to soil structure and organic carbon fractions in New Zealand soils. Australian Journal and Soil Research 39:465-489.
- Singer, M.J., R.J. Southard, D.N. Warrington and P. Janitzky. 1992. Stability of synthetic sand-clay aggregates after wetting and drying cycles. Soil Science Society of America Journal 56:1843-1848.
- Six, J., H. Bossuyt, S. Degryze and K. Denef. 2004. A history of research on the link between (micro) aggregates, soil biota, and soil organic matter dynamics. Soil & Tillage Research 79:7–31.
- Smith, S.E. and D.J. Reid. 2008. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis 3rd ed. Academic Press Ltd. London, UK.
- Sylvia, D.M., P.G. Hartel, J.J. Fuhrmann and D.A. Zuberer. 2005. Principles and applications of soil microbiology. Pearson Prentice Hall, New Jersey. p. 639.
- Tidall, J.M. and J.M. Oades. 1982. Organic matter and water stable aggregates in soils. Journal of Soil Science 33:141-163.
- Traore, O., V. Groleau-Renaud., S. Plantureux, A. Tubeileh and V. Baeuf-Tremblay. 2000. Effect of root mucilage and modeled root exudates on soil Structure. European Journal of Soil Science 51:575-581.
- Tu, C., F.J. Louws, N.C. Creamer, J.P. Mueller, C. Brownie K. Fager M. Bell and S. Hu. 2006. Responses of microbial biomass and N availability to transition strategies from conventional to organic farming systems. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 113:206-215.
- Wardle, D.A., R.D. Bargett, J.N. Klironomos, H. Seta["]la["], W.H. van der Putten, and D.H. Wall. 2004. Ecological linkages between aboveground and belowground biota. Science 304:1629-1633.
- Whalen, J.K. and C. Chang. 2002. Macroaggregate characteristics in cultivated soils after 25 annual manure applications. Soil Science Society of America Journal 66:1637-1647.
- Wilson, G.W.T., C.W. Rice, M.C. Rillig, A. Springer and D.C. Hartnett. 2009. Soil aggregation and carbon sequestration are tightly correlated with the abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: results from long-term field experiments. Ecology Letters 12:452-461.
- Wortmann, C.S. and C.A. Shapiro. 2008. The effects of manure application on soil aggregation. Nutrient Cycling Agroecosystem 80:173-180.

- Yoder, R. E. 1936. A direct method of aggregate analysis of soils and a study of the physical nature of soil erosion losses. Journal of American Society of Agronomy. pp. 337-351.
- Zelles, L. 1999. Fatty acid patterns of phospholipids and lipopolysaccharides in the characterization of microbial communities in soil: a review. Biology and Fertility of Soils 29:111-129.
- Zhu, Y.G. and M. Miller. 2003. Carbon cycling by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil-plant systems. Trends in Plant Sciences 8:407-409.

Table 1.1 Total annual rainfall and mean annual air and soil temperature (12.7 cm soil depth) of Perkins and Lake Carl Blackwell, Oklahoma in 2011 and 2012.

	Perkins	Lake Carl Blackwell
Mean annual rainfall (mm)	893	937
2011	668	584
2012	611	524
Mean annual air temperature (°C)	15.7	14.7
2011	16.5	15.9
2012	17.5	16.8
Mean annual soil temperature under 12.7 cm sod (°C)	16.7	15.0
2011	17.4	14.8
2012	18.7	15.0

Nutrient	Voor	Ν	P ₂ O ₅	K ₂ O
Source	Tear		kg/ha	
	2009	150	78	102
Cow monuro	2010	150	129	134
Cow manure	2011	150	55	213
	Total	450	262	449
	2009	150	150	171
Doultry Littor	2010	150	140	149
	2011	150	138	150
	Total	450	428	470
	2009	150	0	0
Nitrogon	2010	150	0	0
Nillogen	2011	150	0	0
	Total	450	0	0
	2009	150	40	20
	2010	150	40	20
	2011	150	40	20
	Total	450	120	60

Table 1.2. Amount of N, P_2O_5 and K_2O applied, using different organic and inorganic amendments. These amendments were applied spring of each year (2009, 2010, 2011).

	Soil pH				Soil NO ₃ -N Soil Test P				SOM							
	mg kg ⁻¹										9	6				
	2011 2012		2011 2012		012	2011		2012		2011		2012				
	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole
С	6.0b	5.9b	6.0bc	5.9c	2.6bc	2.5c	1.8	2.1b	56b	52c	83b	68b	1.15	1.35	1.35b	1.41b
CM	6.6a	6.4a	6.3a	6.4a	4.4a	5.7b	2.4+	4.4a+	145a	153b	114a	125a	1.54	1.61	2.09a	2.17a
PL	6.4a	6.3a	6.3a	6.2ab	5.2a+	7.9a+	3.2+	4.9a+	177a	198a	151a	137a	1.47	1.57	2.29a	2.01a
Ν	5.9b	5.9b	5.8cd	5.9c	3.9ab	3.0c	2.6	2.2b	53b	55c	71b	76b	1.21	1.25	1.51b	1.50b
NPK	5.8b	5.8b	5.7d	5.8c	3.6abc	3.2c	2.5	2.7b	62b	66c	82b	104ab	1.31	1.27	1.53b	1.60b
L	5.9b	5.9b	6.1ab	6.0bc	2.2c	2.2c	2.0	1.8b	57b	53c	83b	75b	1.25	1.14	1.40b	1.44b

Table 1.3. Mean soil pH, nitrate, available P and soil organic matter (SOM) of experimental plots at Lake Carl Blackwell and Perkins, Oklahoma. These values represent the combined means of these two locations.

Different letters within each column indicate sub-plot (nutrient sources) means are significantly different at alpha = 0.05. + indicate significant difference between dual and sole purpose switchgrass within a year and nutrient source at alpha = 0.05. C = control/unfertilized, CM = cow manure, PL = poultry litter, N = nitrogen (urea), NPK = nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium (urea, triple superphosphate, potassium chloride), L = inter-seeded with legumes, dual indicates plots were harvested twice a year, sole indicates plots were harvested once a year.

	Tota	l Microbial	Biomass (гмв)	AMF				Gram Positive Bacteria				
Nutrient						nmol g⁻¹	of soil						
Source	20	11	20	12		2011	20)12	2	011	2012		
	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	
С	54.0c	55.7c	37.3	39.4	3.0b	3.5bc	1.6	2	16.9	16.5b	12.8	13.3	
CM	68.6a	66.2a	43.6	45.3	4.4a	4.1ab	2.4	2.3	20.4	19.3ab	13.8	14.7	
PL	59.1bc+	68.3a+	40.5	44.8	3.2b+	4.5a+	1.8	2.4	18.2	20.5a	13.3	13.9	
Ν	55.0bc+	63.1ab+	38.5	41.3	3.0b	3.5bc	1.6	1.9	17.2	18.9ab	13	13.4	
NPK	56.1bc	56.4bc	35.4	42.2	2.9b	2.9c	1.4	2	17.6	17.2b	11.7	13.9	
L	60.97b	56.12c	39.2	37.7	3.6b	3.8ab	1.6	1.8	18.4	16.7b	13.3	12.3	
	G	iram Negati	ve Bacter	ia		Saprophytic F	ungi				Fungi:Bacteria Rat	Fungi:Bacteria Ratio	
Nutrient						nmol g ⁻¹ of soil							
Source	20	11	20	12		2011		2012		011	2012		
	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	dual	sole	
С	5.9c	6.5b	2.8	3.3	5.2b	5.9b	2.5	2.4b	0.38	0.42	0.28bc	0.28b	
CM	9.5a	8.7a	4.4	4.4	7.8a	8.1a	3.9	4.6a	0.42	0.45	0.37a	0.38a	
PL	7.2b	8.8a	3.6	4.6	6.6ab+	8.5a+	3.4	4.5a	0.39	0.45	0.33ab	0.38a	
Ν	6.5b	8.3a	3.4	4.1	5.5b+	7.6a+	2.5	3.2ab	0.36	0.42	0.26c	0.31b	
NPK	6.5b	7.3b	2.9	3.8	5.7b	5.7b	2	3.6ab	0.38	0.37	0.25c+	0.35ab+	
L	7.3b	6.5b	3.1	3.1	6.6ab	5.8b	3.1	2.5b	0.41	0.42	0.31abc	0.30b	

Table 1.4. Mean soil microbial communities of experimental plots at Lake Carl Blackwell and Perkins, Oklahoma. These values represent the combined means of these two locations.

Different letters within each column indicate sub-plot (nutrient sources) means are significantly different at alpha = 0.05. + indicate significant difference within dual and sole purpose switchgrass within a year and nutrient source at alpha = 0.05. C = control/unfertilized, CM = cow manure, PL = poultry litter, N = nitrogen (urea), NPK = nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium (urea, triple superphosphate, potassium chloride), L= inter-seeded with legumes, dual indicates plots were harvested twice a year, sole indicates plots were harvested once a year.

Table 1.5. Mean water-stable macroaggregate (%) following three years of nutrient amendments on experimental plots at Lake Carl Blackwell and Perkins, Oklahoma. These values represent the combined means of these two locations.

Macroaggregates in %										
	2012									
	dual	sole								
С	55.06	60.98								
СМ	60.32 +	72.55 +								
PL	64.24	67.01								
Ν	56.99	62.17								
NPK	53.85 +	68.32 +								
L	52.92 +	66.7 +								

+ within each row indicate that main plot (dual vs sole) means with the same treatment are significantly different at alpha = 0.05. C = control/unfertilized, CM = cow manure, PL = poultry litter, N = nitrogen (urea), NPK = nitrogen, phosphorus, potassium (urea, triple superphosphate, potassium chloride), L= inter-seeded with legumes, dual indicates plots were harvested twice a year, sole indicates plots were harvested once a year.

CHAPTER II

THE EFFECTS OF NUTRIENT SOURCES AND HARVEST FREQUENCY ON SWITCHGRASS ABOVE- AND BELOWGROUND BIOMASS

ABSTRACT

Switchgrass has been identified as a potential low-input crop for bioenergy. In Oklahoma, cattle and poultry industries are important sources of livelihood, allowing for the use of animal waste to reduce cost of production in switchgrass. Switchgrass can be produced for use as a biofuel feedstock, forage, or both. The continuous harvesting of aboveground biomass, however, will entail nutrients being extracted from the soil. Thus, it is necessary to explore different nutrient sources that can sustain the production of switchgrass. A field study was conducted at two sites in Oklahoma (2011, 2012) in a split plot design with four replications. These plots were harvested once a year (Fall) for sole purpose biofuel feedstock or twice a year for dual purpose (feed and biofuel) (Summer and Fall). Cow manure, poultry litter, nitrogen, or NPK were applied in plots with established switchgrass (Alamo) and inter-seeded legumes. A non-fertilized control was also included. In the dual purpose, the first harvest comprised

approximately 75-80% of the total biomass, with the remaining 20-25% collected on the second harvest. These data indicate forage harvest should be conducted earlier in the season to allow more time for regrowth for biofuel feedstock and for better forage quality for livestock feeding. The application of animal manure, particularly poultry litter in the dual purpose treatment, increased aboveground biomass when compared to N, NPK, inter-seeded legume, or the control. For the single harvest treatment, poultry litter applications resulted in greatest aboveground biomass among all nutrient treatments in both years. Root biomass was not different among nutrient sources or between harvest frequencies. Poultry litter or animal manure are viable nutrient sources for increasing aboveground biomass and reducing cost of production as these products are readily available in agricultural areas.

INTRODUCTION

Switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.) is a perennial warm-season grass. It has a broad distribution in North America covering areas with mean annual temperatures ranging from 5-25 °C and mean annual precipitation ranging from 300-1500 mm (Hartman et al. 2011). It is one of the dominant species in the tallgrass prairie in the Central Great Plains. It has been used for grazing, forage and groundcover. Switchgrass can be productive for 10 or more years after its establishment (Sokhansanj et al. 2009). Recently, switchgrass has gained recognition as an ideal bioenergy crop for ethanol production (Sanderson et al. 2006, Bagley et al. 2013).

Switchgrass can be grouped into two categories: the upland and lowland varieties. The upland varieties are shorter than its lowland counterparts and are highly acclimated to well-drained soils on mid to high latitude. Lowland varieties are adapted to lower latitudes and moist conditions (Porter 1966). McLaughlin and Kszos (2005) reported switchgrass yields ranged from 4.5 Mg ha⁻¹ in northern plains to 23.0 Mg ha⁻¹ in Alabama, with a US average yield of 11.2 Mg ha⁻¹. In lowa, yield ranged from 6.9 to13.1 Mg ha⁻¹ from a test of 20 switchgrass varieties (Lemus et al. 2002). Switchgrass is responsive to N application but not

to P and K (Muir et al. 2001, Haque 2012). Fertilizer recommendation varies in different regions because of variation in soil, weather, and management (Parrish and Fike 2005).

In Oklahoma, switchgrass has the potential to be grown for dual-purpose, i.e., for both forage and biofuel feedstock. The early harvest can be used for hay and the regrowth for biofuel feedstock. However, the large biomass removal from a dual purpose crop would leave behind few residues on the soil to build organic matter (Balasko et al. 1984; Muir et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2007). This may in the long-term reduce soil quality, consequently affecting biomass production of the grass. Sanderson et al. (1999) recommended a single harvest in the fall for south central US for maximum biomass yield. Madakadze et al. (1999) agreed with the findings of Sanderson et al. (1999) in research conducted in Quebec, Canada. Fike et al. (2006) documented that in southeastern US, single harvest was the best for lowland cultivars of switchgrass but harvesting twice yearly resulted in greater biomass for the upland cultivars. Adler et al. (2006) and Mulkaney et al. (2006) reported that a single summer harvest reduced the continuous productivity of the plant because of the stress of regrowth during the hot and dry months; single harvesting in November, however, allowed the plants to reallocate the nutrients to the roots.

To achieve a sustainable dual purpose production of switchgrass, it is necessary to explore different nutrient sources that can sustain the production of this perennial grass. The use of legumes and organic fertilizers such as animal manure is one way by which nutrients can be provided for the growing switchgrass and at the same time improve soil quality (George et al. 1995; USDA 1998; DeLuca and DeLuca 2013). The use of organic amendments will provide nutrients to the crop steadily over the growing

season (Vogel et al. 2002). The slow release of nutrients helps to minimize potential environmental problems and if the organic amendments are available on the farm, this could further reduce fertilizer expenses (Breida 2000). In addition, organic fertilizers such as animal manure consist of both macro- and micronutrients (Stevenson et al. 1998) that are needed by plants. The effectiveness of organic fertilizers may not be fully utilized in the first year of application but can have residual effects in subsequent years due to the slow release of nutrients and increase of organic matter in soil that can improve soil quality. Application of fresh manure has been shown to increase soil organic matter (Dick 1992). Edmeades (2003) reported that a typical application of 35 tonnes ha⁻¹ fresh manure contribute 7000-8000 kg ha⁻¹ organic matter, and this increase in organic matter contributes to sustained productivity of crops. Sakar et al. (2003) reported that in the first 6 years of their 9 year study when comparing application of straw, farmyard manure or inorganic fertilizer alone or in combinations, the grain yield of rice applied with inorganic fertilizer alone were 10-17% greater than those applied with organic fertilizer and/or in combination with inorganic fertilizer. However, from the 7th year to the 9th year (end of the study), those applied annually with wheat straw and farmyard manure had greater yield. There have been studies reviewing fertilizer and crop production, however these focus on different rates of inorganic fertilizers. To date few studies have documented the impacts of different nutrient sources (inorganic vs inorganic) and harvest frequencies on switchgrass biomass yield. Thus, this study was initiated to evaluate aboveground effects of organic and inorganic nutrient sources on dual and sole purpose switchgrass production.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site Description and Sampling

The experiment was conducted at Cimarron Valley Research Station, Perkins, OK and Lake Carl Blackwell Research Station, near Stillwater, OK during 2009-2012. The soils at the sites were classified as deep, well-drained and moderately permeable Teller sandy loam (mixed, active, thermic Udic Argiustolls) and Port silt loam (fine-silty, mixed, thermic Cumulic Haplustolls), respectively. A lowland variety Alamo switchgrass (SG) was planted in 2008 at Perkins and 2009 at Lake Carl Blackwell (LCB). The experiment was a split plot with four replicates. Dual purpose switchgrass (dual) and sole-feedstock switchgrass (sole) treatments were assigned to main plots. Dual purpose switchgrass was harvested in July and November to simulate grazing or harvesting for hay and later at maturity for biofuel feedstock, whereas, the sole purpose was harvested in November only to simulate the sole purpose as biofuel feedstock. The subplot were the six different nutrient sources (cow manure [CM], poultry litter [PL], urea [N], urea + triple superphosphate + potassium chloride [NPK], control [C] or non-fertilized and inter-seeded with crimson clover (Trifolium) *incarnatum* L.) which is a legume as alternative N source [L]) as the sub-plot. For the nutrient sources, an equivalent nitrogen rate of 150 kg ha⁻¹ (for CM, PL,

N and NPK) was applied in 2009, 2010, and 2011. No fertilizers were applied in 2012. Cow manure and poultry litter were applied based on an N rate of 150 kg ha⁻¹. These fertilizer treatments were applied in spring 2009, 2010, and 2011. Nitrogen fertilizer applications were split, with 1/3 (50 kg N ha⁻¹) applied before greening and the remaining 2/3 (100 kg N ha⁻¹) were applied eight days after the first harvest to stimulate regrowth.

Above- and Belowground Biomass

Aboveground biomass was sampled from an area of 1 m² on each plot by clipping 5 cm above the ground. Dual purpose switchgrass plots were first harvested in late June/early July and again in November of 2011 and 2012. Sole purpose switchgrass plots were harvested only in November 2011 and 2012. Aboveground plant materials were dried at 60 °C and weighed to determine dry mass per unit area. Belowground biomass was collected in November 2011 and 2012 and 2012 in the same area where aboveground biomass was collected using a coring device (12.7 cm diameter) to a depth of 10 cm. Soils were washed off to collect roots, then the roots were dried and weighed similar to the aboveground biomass.

Statistical Analysis

Data pertaining to crop biomass were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (SAS Institute, 2008). Year was treated as a repeated measure, with averages overtime within a year were calculated and analyzed.

Harvest frequency, nutrient sources and year were considered fixed effects, whereas location and replication were considered as random effects. Location x harvest frequency, location x nutrient source interactions were not significant for the crop biomass (P > 0.05), but harvest frequency x year and nutrient source x year interactions were significant for the aboveground biomass (P <0.05). Mean comparisons were made using Fisher's protected LSD test (α =0.05).

RESULTS

Aboveground Biomass

Nutrient sources had significant effects on aboveground biomass for dual purpose switchgrass in both years and sole purpose only in 2011 (Table 2.1). In 2011, dual purpose switchgrass applied with poultry litter had 66% greater biomass than the non-fertilized plots and 39% greater than the NPK treatment. Application of poultry litter in 2011 dual purpose showed significantly greater biomass compared to application of cow manure, urea, NPK and inter-seeded with legumes. Other nutrient sources were not significantly different from each other for dual purpose. In 2011, sole purpose, applied with poultry litter, cow manure and NPK had greater biomass than the control by 44%, 26% and 22%, respectively. In 2012, dual purpose switchgrass total biomass was significantly greater when applied with poultry litter and cow manure compared to interseeded legumes by 82% and 47%, respectively. However, single harvesting of switchgrass in 2012 did not show significant differences among the control, and plots treated with poultry litter, NPK, N, or inter-seeded with legumes.

When comparing harvesting frequencies, aboveground biomass production in 2011, single harvested switchgrass (sole purpose) plots treated with cow manure had 53% greater biomass than dual (Table 2.1). There were no significant differences among other nutrient sources. Comparing harvesting

frequencies in 2012, there were no significant differences within any nutrient sources including the control.

For the dual purpose harvesting, biomass was greater in the first harvest (late June/early July) than the second harvest (November). In 2011, the first harvest of poultry litter treatment had significantly greater biomass than those applied with cow manure, N, NPK, inter-seeded with legumes or the control (Table 2.1). Those applied with poultry litter had 63% greater biomass than the unfertilized control plot. In 2012, the first harvest, the biomass yields of poultry litter and cow manure treatments were 65% and 49% greater than the plot inter-seeded with legume. Application of cow manure, however, did not result in significantly different production as those applied with inorganic fertilizers or the non-fertilized plots. The first harvest comprised approximately 75-80% of the total biomass, with the remaining 20-25% collected at the second harvest.

Belowground Biomass

Root density was not significantly different among nutrient sources or harvesting frequency in either year (Table 2.2).

DISCUSSION

Few studies have documented the impacts of nutrient sources and harvest frequencies on switchgrass biomass yield (Muir et al. 2001). Dual purpose switchgrass can be advantageous to the cattle industry but continuous biomass removal can deplete soil nutrients. Farmers depend on fertilizers to restore soil nutrients. But the use of inorganic fertilizers requires fossil fuel for its production which can negate the advantage of using switchgrass to minimize carbon emission.

In my study single harvesting of switchgrass had greater biomass than those harvested twice a year (dual purpose) in 2011, these results were similar to the findings of Fike et al. (2006), as they found for lowland cultivars such as Alamo, single harvesting a year maximized biomass yield. Upland cultivars yield greater biomass when harvested twice a year than lowland cultivars (Fike et al. 2006) which indicates that upland cultivars may be more beneficial for dual purpose production. Muir et al. (2001) reported biomass yields of 10.7 to 14.5 Mg ha⁻¹ with inorganic fertilizer application rates of 168 kg N ha⁻¹ across 3-6 years of research on Alamo harvested once a year in Texas. Muir et al. (2001) reported a maximum yield of 22.5 Mg ha⁻¹ with fertilizer rate of 168 kg N ha⁻¹ in one year. Cassida et al. (2005) found that Alamo yielded close to 15.0 Mg ha⁻¹

under one harvest per year with 150 kg N ha⁻¹ in Texas and Louisiana and 160 kg N ha⁻¹ in Arkansas. Guretzky et al. (2011) reported obtaining a yield of 12.2 and 22.8 Mg ha⁻¹ with harvesting twice with 0 and 180 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively. In my study, biomass yields varied from 8.7 to 16.6 Mg ha⁻¹ and 8.3 to 21.1 Mg ha⁻¹ in dual and sole harvest, respectively at a rate of 150 kg N ha⁻¹. For the sole purpose, greater biomass were obtained from those applied with poultry litter, cow manure and NPK compared with the control, N and inter-seeded with legume in 2011, and the biomass may have been influenced by the smaller amounts of phosphorus in the control, N and inter-seeded legume plots. In 2012, there were no significant differences in biomass yield among nutrient sources. This could be due to the drier year, since mineralization and movement of nutrients, particularly N, may have been limited due to less precipitation and soil moisture. There was a general trend of increased biomass in switchgrass plots harvested twice with poultry litter treatment. In Chapter 1 Table 1.3, soil NO₃-N and plant available P were greater in the plots applied with poultry litter, which may be responsible for the increased yields. Regrowth were observed to be less when harvested in late June/early July. Therefore, harvesting earlier to allow more time for regrowth is needed for biofuel feedstock in a dual purpose system.

The amount of precipitation and temperature differences among years caused variability in biomass yields. The year 2012 was drier and warmer compared to 2011 which may explain the decrease in biomass yield in switchgrass. Guretzky et al. (2011) reported similar effect of precipitation in the

variability of yield in different years of their study. In addition, no fertilizers were applied in 2012 to find out the residual effect of prior years of fertilizer application.

There were no significant differences in the root density of switchgrass in this study which could be due to the limited depth (10 cm) sampled. Frank et al. (2004) found that 50% of root biomass of switchgrass was at the top 30 cm from an observation of 1.1 m soil depth. This suggests our sampling depth was inadequate for an accurate assessment of root biomass. The root density from 2011 to 2012 was almost doubled for both dual and sole purpose which could be attributed to its root development as a response to drier, warmer conditions. Lloret et al. (1999) studied seedling survival in a drought condition of shrubland species and found a positive correlation between the seedling survival and its allocation to root development.

In the dual purpose, the first harvest comprised approximately 75-80% of the total biomass and the remaining 20-25% on the second harvest, implying that harvesting for forage should be done earlier to allow more time for regrowth for biofuel feedstock. In dual purpose the application of animal manure, particularly poultry litter, increased aboveground biomass when compared to N, NPK or plots inter-seeded with legumes and an impressive 66% and 70% over the control. In sole purpose, those applied with poultry litter had the greatest aboveground biomass, compared to any other treatments in either years. When comparing harvest frequencies, single harvest for sole purpose had the greater total aboveground biomass in 2011. In 2012, aboveground biomass was lower compared to the previous year and there were no significant differences between

sole and dual and among nutrient sources which could be attributed to a warmer and drier environment and no fertilizer were applied that year. Root biomass was not different among nutrient sources or between harvest frequencies. Utilizing poultry litter or animal manure is a viable nutrient source for increasing aboveground biomass and reducing the cost of production if already available within the farm.

References

- Adler, P. R., M. A. Sanderson, A. A. Boateng, P. J. Weimer, and H. G. Jung. 2006. Biomass yield and biofuel quality of switchgrass harvested in fall or spring. Agronomy Journal 98: 1518–1525.
- Bagley CP, A Martell-Cheatham, JH Bouton, BC Housewright. 2013. Switchgrass yield and nutrient characteristics as influenced by initial harvest date and anhydrous ammonia treatment. Journal of Agricultural Science 12:52-60.
- Balasko, J. A., D. M. Burner, and W. V. Thayne. 1984. Yield and quality of switchgrass grown without soil amendments. Agronomy Journal 76: 204-208.
- Biomass Research and Development Board. 2008. National Biofuels Action Plan. Biomass Research and Development Board.
- Brejda, J.J. 2000. Fertilization of native warm-season grasses. *In* K.J. Moore and B.E. Anderson (ed.) Native warm-season grasses: Research trends and issues. CSSA Spec. Publ. 30. CSSA and ASA, Madison, WI. p. 177–200.
- Cassida, K.A., J.P. Muir, M.A. Hussey, J.C. Read, B.C. Venuto, and W.R. Ocumpaugh. 2005. Biomass Yield and Stand Characteristics of Switchgrass in South Central U.S. Environments. Crop Science 45:673-681.
- DeLuca, T.H. and D.K. DeLuca. 2013. Composting for feedlot manure management and soil quality. Journal of Production Agriculture 10:235-241.
- Fike, J.H., D.J. Parrish, D.D. Wolf, J.A. Balasko JT Green Jr., M Rasnake, JH Reynolds. 2006. Switchgrass production for the upper southeastern USA: Influence of cultivar and cutting frequency on biomass yields. Biomass and Bioenergy 30:207-213.
- Frank, A.B., J.D. Berdahl, J.D. Hanson, M.A. Liebig and H.A. Johnson. 2004. Biomass and carbon partitioning in switchgrass. Crop Science. 44:1391-1396.

- George, J.R., K.M. Blanchet, R.M. Gettle, D.R. Buxton, and K.J. Moore. 1995. Yield and botanical composition of legume-inter-seeded vs. nitrogenfertilized switchgrass. Agronomy Journal 87:1147-1153.
- Guretzky, J.A., J.T. Biermacher, B.J. Cook, M.K. Kering and J. Mosali. 2011. Switchgrass for forage and bioenergy: harvest and nitrogen rate effects on biomass yields and nutrient composition. Plant and Soil: An International Journal on Plant-Soil Relationships 339:69-81.
- Haque, M., J.T. Biermacher, M.K. Kering and J.A. Guretzky. 2012. Managing Nitrogen and Phosphorus Nutrients for Switchgrass Produced for Bioenergy Feedstock in Phosphorus-Deficient Soil. Agronomy & Horticulture -- Faculty Publications. Paper 579. http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/agronomyfacpub/579
- Hartman, J.C., J.B. Nippert, R.A. Orozco and C.J. Springer. 2011. Pot ential ecological impacts of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.) biofuel cultivation in the Central Great Plains, USA. Biomass and Bioenergy 35:3415-3421.
- Lee, D. K., V. N. Owens, and J. J. Doolittle. 2007. Switchgrass and soil carbon sequestration response to ammonium nitrate, manure, and harvest frequency on Conservation Reserve Program Land. Agronomy Journal 99: 462-468.
- Lemus R, EC Brummer, KJ Moore, NE Molstad, CL Burras, MF Barker. 2002. Biomass yield and quality of 20 switchgrass populations in Southern Iowa, USA. Biomass and Bioenergy 23:433-442.
- Lloret, F, C. Casanovas, J. Peñuelas. 1999. Seedling survival of Mediterranean shrubland species in relation to root:shoot ratio, seed size and water and nitrogen use. Functional Ecology 13:210-216.
- Madakadze IC, K Stewart, P Peterson, BE Coulman, DL Smith. 1999. Switchgrass biomass and chemical composition for biofuel in Eastern Canada. Agronomy Journal 91:696-701.
- McLaughlin S.B. and L.A. Kszos. 2005. Development of switchgrass (Panicum virgatum) as a bioenergy feedstock in the United States. Biomass and Bioenergy 28:515-535.
- Muir, J.P., M.A. Sanderson, W.A. Ocumpaugh, R.M. Jones, and R.L. Reed. 2001. Biomass production of 'Alamo' switchgrass in response to nitrogen, phosphorus, and row spacing. Agronomy Journal 93:896–901.

- Mulkaney, V.R., V.N. Owens, D.K. Lee. 2006. Management of switchgrass dominated conservation reserve program lands for biomass production in South Dakota. Crop Science 46:712-720.
- Parrish DJ, JH Fike. 2005. The biology and agronomy of switchgrass for biofuels. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 24:423-459.
- Porter CL. 1966. An analysis of variation between upland and lowland switchgrass in central Oklahoma. Ecology 47:980-992.
- Sakar, S. S.R. Singh and R.P. Singh. 2003. The effect or organic and inorganic fertilizers on soil physical condition and the productivity of a rice-lentil cropping sequence in India. The Journal of Agricultural Science 140:419-425.
- Sanderson, M. A., J. C. Read, and R. L. Reed. 1999. Harvest management of switchgrass for biomass feedstock and forage production. Agronomy Journal 91: 5–10.
- Sanderson MA, PR Adler, AA Boateng, MD Casler, G. Sarath. 2006. Switchgrass as biofuel feedstock in the USA. Canadian Journal of Plant Science 1315-1325.
- Sokhansanj, S., S. Mani, A. Turhollow, A. Kumar, D. Bransby, L. Lynd, M. Laser. 2009. Large-scale production, harvest and logistics of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum* L.) – current technology and envisioning a mature technology. Biofuels, Bioproduct, Biorefinary 3:124–141.
- USDA. 1998. Legumes and Soil Quality. Soil Quality Agronomy Technical Note No. 6. US Department of Agriculture. http://soils.usda.gov/sqi/management/files/sq_atn_6.pdf
- Vogel, K.P., J.J. Brejda, D.T. Walters, and D.R. Buxton. 2002. Switchgrass biomass production in the Midwest USA: Harvest and Nitrogen Management. Agronomy Journal 94: 413-420.

Table 2.1. Effects of different nutrient sources and switchgrass production (dual – harvested twice a year vs sole – harvested once a year) on switchgrass aboveground biomass at two locations Perkins and Lake Carl Blackwell, Oklahoma in 2011 and 2012.

	Aboveground biomass (Mg ha ⁻¹)									
		201	1		2012					
		Dual		Sole		Sole				
	1 st harvest	2 nd harvest	Total		1 st harvest	2 nd harvest	Total			
Control	7.6 b	2.4	10.0 b	14.7 c	7.0 bc	0.7	7.7 bc	7.4		
Cow manure	8.9 b	3.2	12.1 b+	18.5 ab+	9.7 ab	0.9	10.6 ab	10.5		
Poultry litter	12.4 a	4.2	16.6 a	21.2 a	10.7 a	2.4	13.1 a	11.6		
Nitrogen	9.6 b	2.7	12.3 b	15.5 bc	8.1bc	0.7	8.8 bc	8.4		
NPK	9.1 b	2.8	11.9 b	18.0 abc	8.8 bc	0.7	9.5 bc	10.3		
Legume	7.7 b	3.0	10.7 b	10.5 d	6.5 c	0.7	7.2 c	7.4		

Different letters within each column indicate means are significantly different at alpha = 0.01. + within each row indicate that main plot (dual vs sole) means with the same nutrient source are significantly different at alpha = 0.05.

Table 2.2. Effects of different nutrient sources and switchgrass production (dual – harvested twice a year vs sole – harvested once a year) on switchgrass belowground biomass at two locations Perkins and Lake Carl Blackwell, Oklahoma in 2011 and 2012.

	Root Density										
	mg cm⁻³										
	Fall 2011 Fall 2012										
	dual sole dual s										
С	14	14	41	37							
PL	19	19	45	43							
Ν	14	19	39	41							
NPK	16	15	34	48							
L	16	12	43	32							

CHAPTER III

EFFECTS OF ELEVATED TEMPERATURE AND DRIER CONDITION ON SWITCHGRASS PRODUCTION

ABSTRACT

Based largely on extrapolations of models and field observations, switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) has been proposed to be a model bioenergy crop. As a native perennial, warm-season grass, switchgrass has adaptability to a wide range of environments and low fertilizer requirement. In this study, I provide empirical data to assess the effectiveness of switchgrass for low-input sustainable feedstock production, under changing climates. This study assesses the interactions of fertilizer amendment (organic and inorganic amendments) and elevated temperature and increased drought on above- and belowground components influencing switchgrass performance in controlled greenhouse environments. Production was not significantly different between non-fertilized control, applications of inorganic fertilizers N or NPK, or organic amendment (applied as poultry litter). Furthermore, increased temperatures (typical daily high temperature of 53 °C) and drought conditions (maintained at slightly above the permanent wilting point) did not affect biomass possibly due to lack of stress under any treatment. Soil microbial communities were also not affected by any

treatment, with the exception of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi which were more abundant under ambient climatic conditions than warmer, drier conditions. However, overall microbial biomass was not affected by fertilizer or climate. This study indicates switchgrass can be a productive bioenergy crop if North American climates becomes warmer and drier, and is able to produce high quality biomass (based on cellulose:lignin ratios) under an array of fertilizer amendments. Importantly, switchgrass biomass quality and quantity were similar in treatments receiving no fertilizer applications, compared to either organic or inorganic fertilizations.

INTRODUCTION

The growing concern over climate change and energy security was brought about by the increasing carbon dioxide in the atmosphere, reliance on fossil fuel and increasing cost of foreign fuel which prompted the US government to explore alternative renewable sources of energy. In 2006, global atmospheric CO₂ concentrations were already 380 parts per million (ppm), compared to 280 ppm before the industrial revolution (IPCC 2007). One of the primary contributors of the increased global carbon emission is fossil-fuel combustion contributing 8.6 Pg C yr⁻¹ (Lal 2008). Increases in greenhouse gases and the resultant changes in global climate is a phenomenon recognized by 160 countries that adapted the Kyoto Protocol in 1997 (Breidinich et al. 1998). In the Kyoto Protocol, it was agreed that there is a need to reduce greenhouse gase emissions to slow atmospheric accumulation.

In recent years, the use of biofuel has increased rapidly in the United States. Jessup (2009) reported that biofuel production between 2005 to 2008 averaged 2.4 billion gallons per year compared to 150 million gallons per year from 1978

through 2004. Furthermore, the projected rate of biofuel production between 2009 to 2022 is 1.9 billion gallons per year (Biomass Research and Development Board 2008).

The US Department of Energy Herbaceous Energy Crops Program (HECP) screened more than 30 herbaceous species for their potential as biofuel feedstocks (Parrish and Fike 2005). Native switchgrass was selected as a model herbaceous species because of its perennial growth habit, high yielding potential on marginal lands, wide environmental tolerance, compatibility with conventional farming practices, and its potential to revegetate drastically disturbed sites for reconstructed grasslands (Parrish and Fike 2005; Wright and Turhollow 2010). When harvested biomass is burned directly or converted to ethanol, prairie grasses can have a negative C balance compared to fossil fuels (Garten et al. 2010). Using established technology, prairie hay can be pelletized and burned for distillation heat in corn ethanol production or co-fired in coal power plants for electricity. It can also be converted to next-generation liquid biofuel using emerging technology for cellulosic ethanol or synthetic fuel (Tilman et al. 2006).

For ethanol production, corn is the current dominant feedstock for biofuel in the US (Hoekman 2009). Production by first generation feedstocks like corn requires large quantities of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) fertilizer for optimal yields. Production of N fertilizer accounts for a major portion of agricultural fossil fuel use (Vitousek et al. 1997). Also, fertilizer usage is a barrier to achieving C neutrality because it reduces the functioning of mycorrhizas and other plant-soilmicrobe interactions that generate biological soil fertility and increase soil C sequestration (Zhu and Miller 2003; Welbaum et al. 2004). Switchgrass is highly dependent upon symbiotic associations with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (AMF) (Wilson and Hartnett 1998). Because of their reliance on beneficial interactions

with soil microorganisms, and in particular, their strong symbiotic relationships with mycorrhizal fungi, switchgrass has been shown to have considerably higher nutrient and water use efficiency than corn (Beale and Long 1997; Heaton et al. 2004).

Mycorrhizas are a key mechanism for the high nutrient and water-use efficiencies and large biomass yields of native prairie grasses in low-input systems. Mycorrhizal function is largely based on reciprocal transfer of photosynthate from the plant and P, N, and other nutrients from the fungus. AM fungi can exert a sizable C sink that causes plants to increase their rates of photosynthesis (Wright et al. 1998; Miller et al. 2002). Furthermore, AM fungal hyphae can replace root hairs and root epidermal cell surfaces as sites of P and N uptake (Smith et al. 2003). Mycorrhizal symbioses also confer other plant benefits including improved plant-water relations, tolerance to soil contaminants including herbicides, and resistance to pathogens (Smith and Read 1997; Miller and Jastrow 2000). At the ecosystem scale, AM fungi play a critical role in the formation of soil structure (Jastrow et al. 1998; Miller and Jastrow 2000) and regulating C flux from plants to the soil (Zhu and Miller 2003). Mycorrhizas enhance C sequestration because they transfer C away from root surfaces where microbial metabolism is greatest into the soil matrix, including aggregates (see reviews by Rillig and Mummey 2006, Treseder and Allen 2000). AM fungi directly contribute to soil aggregation through the physical entanglement of soil particles with external hyphae (Tisdall and Oades 1982). Sizeable amounts of these hyphae have been reported for prairie soils (Eom et al. 1999, Rillig and Allen

1999; Wilson et al. 2006), with a peak length of 111 m hyphae cm⁻³ soil in a prairie community (Miller et al. 1995). As soil aggregation is thought to protect C rich detritus from microbial degradation, increased aggregate stability could increase C sequestration (Jastrow and Miller 1998; Miller and Jastrow 2000, Six et al. 2000). Switchgrass feedstock is comprised of shoots so it is understandable that the focus of these breeding programs has been aboveground. In fact, the major goal of the switchgrass breeding to date has been to develop cultivars that produce high biomass per unit area without increased cultural input; ultimately reducing cost per unit biofuel (Muir et al. 2001; Christian et al. 2002; Thomason et al. 2004; McLaughlin and Kszos 2005; Parrish and Fike 2005; Guretzky et al. 2011). However, there are potentially significant indirect benefits from the ecological services generated from sustainable use of switchgrass, including ground water purification, reduced soil erosion, improved soil tilth, pasture-based animal production, endangered species and wildlife habitat, and recreation. These services should be included in a comprehensive assessment of biofuel feasibility.

Switchgrass has also been proposed as a model crop for bioenergy due to its growth in a wide range of climatic conditions. Indeed, few other herbaceous crops are as broadly adapted across the range of growing conditions found in North America as is switchgrass. Switchgrass is a better selection than corn for biofuel since it requires less water and less fertilizer, thus improving soil conservation compared to row crops such as corn. Switchgrass also has higher energy output than the same amount of corn biomass when converted to ethanol.

Corn based ethanol has 21% net energy gain while switchgrass based ethanol has 343% net energy gain (McLaughlin and Walsh 1998). Prediction of switchgrass performance under global climate change is largely based on modeling studies (Barney and DiTomaso 2010).

Experiments to assess effects of climate change can be conducted along a latitudinal gradient, allowing predictions of plant and soil responses with increasing temperature and drought. However, field studies are complicated by the effect of soil type and land-use history such that the effect of climate is difficult to disentangle from the effect of soil at each site. Therefore, a greenhouse study was conducted to assess the effects of a warmer, drier climate on annual biomass production of switchgrass.

Previous research has shown AMF can significantly improve water uptake by increasing root absorptive surface area and hydraulic conductivity (Augé 2001, 2004; Allen 2011) and/or increasing the water-holding capacity of soil (Miller and Jastrow 2000; Jastrow et al. 1998; Wilson et al. 2009). A number of recent studies have explored the role of AM fungi on plant water relations at the cellular to organism levels, indicating that the root exudates and signaling molecules that are emitted by plants to stimulate AM colonization are produced in higher quantities when plants are water-stressed (Horii et al. 2009; Akiyama et al. 2005), and that AM-derived benefits to host plants are greater under resourcelimited conditions (Klironomos et al. 2001). Thus, I predict that mycorrhizas play an important role in resilience to drought in switchgrass and will increase in importance as a biofuel with climate change.
Fertilizer management may also impact soil microbes and C sequestration processes in biomass feedstock production, and these responses may be confounded by elevated temperature and drought. Nitrogen is typically the most limiting plant nutrient, and N fertilization of switchgrass grown for bioenergy is an important consideration in designing site management from the standpoint of maximizing N use and minimizing N loss to leaching (Nyakatawa et al. 2006; Garten et al. 2010). Certainly, like most crops, soil C storage beneath switchgrass, as well as aboveground biomass production can potentially be increased with applications of inorganic N fertilizer (Lee et al. 2007). However, previous studies assessing N fertilization and switchgrass aboveground biomass production have reported high annual, cultivar, and inter-site variability (Reynolds) et al. 2000; Muir et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2007; Garten et al. 2010). Organic amendments, such as animal manure, contain nutrients in organic forms that must first be mineralized by soil microorganisms to be available for plant uptake. However, organic amendments typically also contain intra- and extra-cellular enzymes that aid in the decomposition of organic matter and stimulate microbial activity (Mohammadi et al. 2011). Alternatively, while inorganic fertilizers are readily available for plant use, ammonium and nitrate ions may leach into ground water and aquatic systems and have limited availability for plant uptake (Hallberg 1989). Understanding how different fertilization regimes affect microbial communities, including mycorrhizal associations, and thereby C sequestration processes, and how fertilizer amendments interact with climate change, could have important implications for efforts to co-optimize. Therefore, in my study, I

investigate the influence of warmer and drier climatic conditions on aboveground production of switchgrass grown under various fertilizer regimes. Furthermore, I assess the role of climate and fertilizer management on belowground parameters such as soil organic carbon, root biomass production, and soil microbial communities.

Cellulose:lignin ratio of biofuel feedstock is also an important aspect in the selection of ideal materials for biofuel feedstock. Feedstock quality can be assessed by measuring percent cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, ash, moisture content, N content and other minerals from plant tissue (Boateng et al. 2006). Lignin is the most recalcitrant component of the cell wall and can reduce the surface area available for enzyme activity, therefore Cellulose: lignin ratio is often used to project feedstock quality. Most studies to date have examined biomass yield, N application rates, and timing of N application (Muir et al. 2001; Christian et al. 2002; Thomason et al. 2004; McLaughlin and Kszos 2005; Parrish and Fike 2005; Guretzky et al. 2011), but few studies include cellulose: lignin ratio of switchgrass as an indicator of quality feedstock. Therefore, assessments of cellulose:lignin ratio of switchgrass grown under ambient and warmer/drier climatic conditions and with various fertilizer amendments were included. I hypothesize cellulose: lignin ratios will be high, with relatively low production of lignin, across all climates.

I hypothesize that switchgrass is a viable option for quality biofuel under warmer, drier climatic conditions. Specifically, I hypothesize that plant biomass will not decrease when grown under increased temperatures and decreased

water availability, compared to biomass production when grown under ambient conditions. However, I hypothesize that AMF biomass and root colonization will increase with warmer and drier conditions, as the plants will increase their reliance on these fungi to forage for water. I hypothesize that under both climatic conditions, applications of organic manure will increase above-ground biomass production, compared to inorganic fertilizers or the non-fertilized control, due to positive effects of organic fertilizer on soil properties such as conservation of moisture and increased retention (slow-release) of nutrients.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Soil Preparation:

Soil used for the greenhouse study was collected from Oklahoma State University Range Research Site near Stillwater, OK. Surface soil (0-15 cm) was sieved through a mesh (2 mm) to remove rocks and other plant debris. The initial soil properties were: pH of 7.8, 12.8 mg kg⁻¹ NO₃-N, 1.25 mg kg⁻¹ plant available (Mehlich 3) P and 144 mg kg⁻¹ plant available K.

Switchgrass Collection and Establishment:

Switchgrass tillers (lowland cultivar: Alamo) were collected from the Cimarron Valley Research Station near Perkins, OK using a 12 cm diameter core to a depth of 10 cm. Aboveground biomass was clipped to 4 cm. Tillers, comprising individual clones, were transported to Oklahoma State University greenhouse facilities. Four clones were transplanted into each of 32 mesocosms (plastic containers 82 cm height x 50 cm width x 43 cm length) containing 32 kg (dry wt) of native prairie soil (described above). Plants were allowed to adapt to the greenhouse environment (18 - 22 °C with no supplemental lighting) for four weeks.

Treatment and Experimental Design:

Treatments consisted of a factorial combination of two climate conditions (ambient and increased temperature/decreased water) x four nutrient sources (N fertilizer, NPK fertilizer, poultry litter (PL) and control (C) with four replications for a total of 32 mesocosms. Mesocosms were arranged in a randomized complete block design.

Increased temperature was implemented by placing one-half of mesocosms in a greenhouse maintained with average ambient temperatures of 27 °C (typical daily high of 30°C) and the other half in a greenhouse maintained 5-10 °C greater than ambient (typical daily high of 40°C). Drought was implemented by maintaining a volumetric soil moisture content (VMC) at 20-25%, which is slightly above the permanent wilting point. For the well-watered treatment, VMC was maintained at 35-40% (field capacity). The VMC was monitored every other day using the Field Scout TDR. The TDR was calibrated for a clay soil.

All nutrient sources were applied one time based on N application rate of 150 kg ha^{-1} . The plants were maintained for 16 weeks at which time the majority of the switchgrass plants had senesced. At this time, aboveground biomass was harvested and dried at 60 °C for 72 hrs and weighed.

The main cell wall components (cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin content) were assessed on dried aboveground samples. Samples were ground and the acid detergent fiber (ADF), neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and acid

detergent lignin (ADL) were determined. Acid and neutral solutions were used to determine ADF and NDF, respectively, using Ankom fiber analyzer. Acid detergent fiber and NDF are residues remaining after the extractions from these solutions and determined gravimetrically. Acid detergent lignin is the percent fiber remaining after ADF determination and further digestion with 72% sulfuric acid. Cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin content were calculated following Lemus et al. (2002):

Cellulose (%) = ADF (%) - ADL (%)

Hemicellulose (%) = NDF (%) - ADF (%)

Roots were washed free of soil, dried at 60 °C for 72 hrs, and weighed. Soil samples were collected from each mesocosm and partitioned for phospholipid fatty acid analysis and soil chemical analysis.

Soil NO₃-N was extracted using 1M KCI solution and was analyzed using the Lachat Quickchem 8000 Flow Injection Autoanalyzer (Kachurina et al. 2000). Plant available P and K were extracted with Mehlich 3 solution and quantified using the inductively coupled plasma emission spectroscopy (ICP) (Pittman et al. 2005). Soil pH was measured from a 1:1 soil/water ratio using a pH electrode (Asai et al. 2009).

Total lipids were extracted from soil samples based on the method of Bligh and Dyer (1959) with modifications by White et al. (1979) to determine the soil microbial biomass based on functional groups. Phospholipid fatty acid analysis was performed using Agilent 7890A gas chromatography with an Agilent 5975C series mass selective detector (GC-MS). Methyl nonadecanoate fatty acid (19:0) was used as the internal standard for all the samples. The following fatty acids were chosen to represent the gram positive bacteria: i15:0, a15:0, i16:0, i17:0, a17:0; for gram negative bacteria: 3-OH 14:0, $16:1_{\Delta}9$ ($16:1\omega7$), $17:0_{\Delta}9,10$ (cy17:0), 2-OH 16:0, $19:0_{\Delta}9,10$ (cy19:0), 2-OH 12:0; for AM fungi: $16:1_{\Delta}11(16:1\omega5c)$, $20:1\omega9$, $22:1\omega13$; for saprophytic fungi: $18:1_{\Delta}9$ ($18:1\omega9c$), $18:2_{\Delta}9,12$ ($18:2\omega9$) and for non-specific microbes 14:0, 15:0, 16:0, 17:0, 17:0, 18:0, 20:0 (Zelles 1999; Wilkinson et al. 2002). The total microbial biomass or relative abundance of each functional group was expressed as nmol g⁻¹ of soil.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using the MIXED procedure of SAS (SAS Institute, 2008). Climate, fertilizer and climate*fertilizer interaction were considered fixed effects and block as random effect. Dependent variables were checked for normality and homogeneity of variance using the UNIVARIATE procedure of SAS program. Mean comparisons were made using Fisher's protected LSD test (α =0.05).

RESULTS

Above- and Belowground Biomass Production, Root: Shoot Ratio

Aboveground biomass and relative growth rate were similar under both climatic conditions and there were no significant interactions between fertilizer and climate (Table 3.1).

Fertilizer did affect root biomass, as applications of nitrogen alone (urea) significantly decreased root biomass, compared to all other fertilizer treatments (Table 3.1). Applications of NPK increased root biomass by 57%, compared to the control, and by 59% compared to those applied with nitrogen alone. Applications of poultry litter resulted in root biomass similar to the NPK treatment.

Root:shoot ratio among nutrient sources and climate was not significantly different between treatments.

Cellulose, Hemicellulose and Lignin

Both climate and fertilizer source significantly affected cellulose concentration of switchgrass biomass. Cellulose content under warmer, drier conditions was significantly greater than ambient conditions. The plants amended with poultry litter had significantly more cellulose than plants receiving inorganic fertilizers (urea or NPK). However, hemicellulose and lignin content of switchgrass were not significantly influenced by fertilizer amendment or climate (Table 3.2). Cellulose:lignin ratio were slightly affected by the interaction of climate and fertilizer amendments. While most fertilizer treatments resulted in similar cellulose:lignin ratios when grown under warmer and drier conditions, the plants of the non-fertilized control had greater cellulose:lignin ratio than plants amended with poultry litter.

Soil Microbial Communities/Soil Biological Properties

The distinct microbial groups important to soil function and observed in this study were gram positive bacteria, gram negative bacteria, AM fungi, and saprophytic fungi. No significant effects were observed for any functional group in response to fertilizer treatment, and there were no significant interactions between fertilizers and climate condition (Table 3.3). Among these functional microbial groups, only AM fungi were affected by climate (Table 3.3). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal biomass in ambient condition was almost twice as large as that under drier and warmer conditions. The greater fungal biomass led to an overall greater fungi:bacteria ratio when plants were exposed to ambient climatic conditions, compared to the warmer and dried conditions (Table 3.3). These alterations in fungal:bacteria ratio was presumably in response to alterations in AMF, as AMF was the only functional group that significantly decreased when grown under warmer/drier conditions.

Soil Chemical Properties

Soil pH, SOM and soil K were not significantly different following fertilizer applications, alterations in climate, or fertilizer x climate interactions (Table 3.4). Soil NO₃-N and plant-available P were significantly affected by fertilizer, but there was no interaction with climate (Table 3.4). Application of inorganic fertilizers resulted in greater NO₃-N compared with the non-fertilized control or application of poultry litter. Plant available P was greater in soil following applications of inorganic NPK or poultry litter, compared to applications of N alone, or no fertilizer application. No significant differences in organic matter were observed in any fertilizer or climate treatments, and no fertilizer x climate interactions were observed (Table 3.4).

DISCUSSION

Switchgrass has been proposed to be a model bioenergy crop for its adaptability to a wide range of environments and for its low fertilizer requirement. Because of this, it has been considered to plant this crop on marginal lands, thus reducing the competition of bioenergy crops with row crop agriculture or livestock production on prime agricultural land (Hartman et al. 2011). This greenhouse study was to provide empirical data to test the effectiveness of switchgrass for feedstock production when grown in low nutrient (marginal) soil under elevated temperatures and reduced soil moisture.

Production by first generation feedstocks like corn requires large quantities of nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) fertilizer for optimal yields. Biofuel feedstocks produced from annual food crops such as corn and soybean offer only marginal improvements in net energy production because their cultivation requires relatively high inputs of fossil fuels (Hill et al. 2006). Production of N fertilizer accounts for a major portion of agricultural fossil fuel use (Vitousek et al. 1997). Nitrogen is typically the most limiting plant nutrient, and N fertilization of switchgrass grown for bioenergy is an important consideration in designing site management from the standpoint of maximizing N use and minimizing N loss to leaching (Nyakatawa et al. 2006; Garten et al. 2010). Because switchgrass is a native grass species, it has been projected that successful growth for feedstock production may require less fertilizer input, compared to annual food crops.

Certainly, like most crops, aboveground biomass production can potentially be increased with applications of inorganic N fertilizer (Lee et al. 2007). However, biomass is not always increased in response to fertilization. In a review of 14 field trials comparing long term effects (20-120 years) of NPK fertilizer, no significant increases in production were observed on agricultural row crop production (Edmeades 2003). Similarly, previous studies assessing N fertilization and switchgrass aboveground biomass production have reported high annual, cultivar, and inter-site variability (Reynolds et al. 2000; Muir et al. 2001; Lee et al. 2007; Garten et al. 2010). Production costs and energy requirements for N fertilizer can be reduced through the use of organic amendments, such as manure or plant residues. In this study, the influence of organic and inorganic fertilizer on feedstock production was assessed. I hypothesized that organic fertilizer, in the form of poultry litter, would increase biomass production, compared to production of the non-fertilized control or plants receiving applications of inorganic N or NPK fertilizer. However, the data obtained do not support my hypothesis, as there was no influence of fertilizer on aboveground production. However, the data obtained do support using switchgrass as an effective feedstock crop; production was not significantly different between the non-fertilized control and any fertilizer treatment, even when grown in low nutrient (marginal) soil.

In this study, soil organic matter (SOM) was not significantly different between any fertilizer or climate treatments. Soil organic matter is generally linked to overall soil health, as increases in SOM generally lead to increases in

cation exchange capacity, soil aggregate stability, and soil aeration. In addition, organic amendments are considered beneficial as they require decomposition to release nutrients for plant availability and are thus considered slow-release nutrient amendments, compared to chemical applications of nitrogen which are readily available for plant uptake but may be leached into adjacent ecosystems. Plant, animal, and microbial residues are substrates for the formation of SOM; therefore increases in plant litter and soil microbial activity is directly related to increases in SOM. Soil biota, especially microorganisms, contribute utmost to the formation of SOM from organic litter, and consequently microbial biomass is typically increased with increases in SOM (Birkofer et al. 2008, Thiele-Bruhn 2012). As I did not observe any treatment effects on plant biomass or total microbial biomass, it may be expected that SOM remain at similar levels across treatments, as well. However, typically, SOM is greater in soils receiving organic fertilizer (Birkofer et al. 2008, Thiele-Bruhn 2012). Increasing amounts of nitrogen (organic or inorganic) have also been shown to increase SOM (Halvorson and Reule 1999; Garten 2012), although this was not observed in my study. It is possible that the limited time (16 weeks) of the greenhouse study did not allow for substantial alterations in SOM formation or decomposition, regardless of treatment. While even a single application of organic fertilizer has been shown to significantly increase soil microbial communities and SOC (Hammesfahr et al. 2011), SOM formation and decomposition is directly affected by multiple interacting factors (e.g. soil texture, soil temperature and moisture, microbial

composition, plant quality and quantity). Therefore, assessing implications of fertilizer amendments on SOM formation is difficult.

In agreement with previous predictions, such as those by Parrish and Fike (2005) and Garten et al. (2010), and in support of my first hypothesis, the data indicate aboveground biomass production was not reduced in response to increasing temperatures and drought. This study provides empirical data to support previous suggestions, based largely on extrapolations of models and field observations (e.g. McLaughlin and Kszos 2005), that switchgrass can tolerate a wide range of environmental conditions, without a loss in feedstock production. Furthermore, this study showed no climate x fertilizer interaction, indicating switchgrass was not influenced by fertilization when grown under well-watered, ambient temperatures or elevated temperatures and drought conditions.

For feedstock production, it is not only important to consider overall production, but tissue components of cellulose, hemicelluloses, and lignin are also important considerations. It is preferred to have a feedstock with relatively greater cellulose content, compared to lignin, for efficient conversion to ethanol. At this time, cellulose is the only polysaccharide that has been used for commercial ethanol production, as it is currently the only one for which there are commercially available deconstructing enzyme mixtures (Sticklen, 2008). Like cellulose, hemicellulose can also be converted into fermentable sugars by enzymatic hydrolysis for the production of cellulosic ethanol (Sticklen, 2008). Hence, the greater the percentage of cellulose to lignin ratio reflects greater efficiency for lignocellulosic biomass to be converted to ethanol. This study

showed both fertilizer and climate influenced the percentage of cellulose in switchgrass shoots. When grown under ambient conditions, plants grown with applications of urea produced shoots with relatively greater cellulose content. compared to those grown with NPK. However, while these values are significant, there were small differences in the percentage of cellulose, lignin, or hemicellulose between treatments. When grown under higher temperatures and drought conditions, the non-fertilized control produced greater cellulose content than the urea treatment, but again, these values are, overall, not substantial. Furthermore, neither lignin, hemicelluloses, nor cellulose: lignin were affected by fertilizer treatment or climate. In summary, there were few alterations in cellulose content in response to fertilizer or climate. These data were notable and reassuring in that switchgrass produced similar biomass, with similar cellulose content, when grown under low-input management (no additional fertilizer), compared to growth following either inorganic or organic fertilizer amendments. Furthermore, these results held true under warmer and drier conditions. This may be valuable information for feedstock producers.

Nutrient sources did significantly affect belowground biomass, with similar responses between both climates. There was greater root production following applications of inorganic NPK fertilizer, compared to urea (N alone) or the non-fertilized control, and applications of organic fertilizer (poultry litter) increased root production compared to applications of urea. Investment into root biomass may have large implications on SOM and soil organic carbon storage, and may also have implications on production of shoot biomass in subsequent years.

Microbes such as gram positive, gram negative bacteria, AM and saprophytic fungi are distinct microbial functional groups that are vital to sustainable soil and plant function and health (Anderson 2003). The potential exists for changes in the composition of these groups of the soil microbial community in response to changes in climate, such as rising temperatures and reduced precipitation (e.g. Pendall et al. 2004; Compant et al. 2010). In fact, climate is considered to be a major driver influencing microbial communities, including fungi (Robinson, 2001; Lopez-Gutierrez et al. 2008), and specifically AM fungi (Helgason and Fitter 2009; Antunes et al. 2011; Hawkes et al., 2011). Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi can increase drought tolerance by producing hyphae with access to small soil pores, expanding belowground water uptake and increasing rates of water movement from soil into host plants (Ruiz-Lozano et al. 1995; Augé 2001) or by increasing nutrient acquisition transferred from the soil to the plant (Ruiz-Lozano and Azcón 1996; Johnson et al. 1997; Wu and Xia 2006). However, at very low soil water, fungal hyphae in soil may stop growing or contract if the hyphae cannot maintain structural integrity. Mycorrhizal hyphae in soils and roots have been shown to increase, decrease, or remain unchanged in response to drought, and appear to be context-dependent depending on host, soil, and an array of environmental factors (Miller et al. 1995; Denef et al. 2001; Lutgen et al. 2003; Staddon et al. 2003; Clark et al. 2009; Querejeta et al. 2009; Hawkes et al. 2011). In this study, AMF was the only soil microbial group that was significantly affected by increased temperatures and drought; AMF biomass was reduced when plants were grown under warmer, drier conditions, compared

to fungal biomass produced when plants were grown under ambient conditions. Overall fungal production (combined totals of AM and saprophytic fungi) was also greater under ambient conditions, and this led to a greater fungi:bacteria ratio. Therefore, the data collected do not support my previous hypothesis that AMF biomass production increase in response to elevated temperatures and increased drought.

Previous studies have reported that while fungi are generally highly resistant to water stress and can grow at relatively low water content (Harris, 1981; Schimel et al., 1989), fungi are susceptible to extremely low soil water and increased stress (Williams, 2007). During times of high stress, plants may divert resources away from AMF, resulting in a reduction in mycorrhizal hyphal production (Eom et al. 1999; Entry et al. 2002; Bell et al. 2009; Olsson et al. 2010; Owens et al. 2012). Indeed, the beneficial effects of AM symbionts can become detrimental to plant growth under extreme drought, as low water availability can inhibit the flow of phosphorus from AMF to plants (Al-Karaki and Al-Raddad 1997). In this study, while the temperatures were maintained aboveaverage (typical daily high temperature of 40 °C) and plants experienced drought conditions (maintained at slightly above the permanent wilting point) for 16 weeks, it is possible these conditions did not result in high stress for these C_4 plants. Plants with C_4 physiology have high water use efficiency and stomatal conductance, and may not rely heavily on fungal symbionts for water acquisition (Edwards et al. 2010). In this scenario, the AM fungal biomass was reduced with no negative consequence to the host plant, as the plant was not highly

dependent on the fungi for water or nutrient uptake. Indeed, similar aboveground biomass was produced whether plants were grown under ambient conditions or in higher temperatures and drought. However, switchgrass has been shown to be highly mycotrophic in low nutrient prairie soil (Wilson and Hartnett 1997), and reliance on the symbiosis would not be expected to be reduced under periods of stress, such as increased temperature or drought. Therefore, I present an alternative hypothesis, that the switchgrass plants grown in this study did not perceive stress under any of the climatic conditions. Similar biomass production across treatments could also be indicative of a lack of induced stress at these temperature and water treatments. Plants often respond to drought by avoiding water deficits through reduced evapotranspiration by increasing root-to-shoot ratios (Chaves et al. 2003). The lack of alterations in root:shoot ratios following higher temperature and drought conditions may further indicate the lack of perceived stress under these conditions.

Drought conditions have been shown to alter soil microbial community composition through differential drought tolerance among functional groups of microorganisms. For example, more drought-tolerant microorganisms such as fungi would be expected to increase in relative abundance, while abundance of gram-negative bacteria usually decline in response to drought. These changes lead to an increased ratio of fungi to bacteria under dry conditions, as measured by an increased fungal:bacteria ratio (Drenovsky et al. 2004, Gray et al. 2011). However, in this study, the fungal:bacterial ratio decreased in response to soil drying, as a result of additive declines of AM and saprophytic hyphal production.

Furthermore, the degree of physiological stress of a system can be estimated using the bacterial stress index (BSI), based on relative abundance of gramnegative bacteria (BSI = cy17:0 + cy19:0/ $16:1\omega7c + 18:1\omega7c$) for each sample (Bossio et al. 1998; Gray et al. 2011). The BSI was not significantly different between the soil communities of either of the environmental conditions manipulated, and in fact these ratios tended to be higher from soils maintained under ambient climate, indicating drought and high temperatures did not induce stress in the soil microbial communities in this study.

An alternative, or additive, possibility for the lower AM biomass under ambient conditions, compared to elevated temperatures and drought, is that the AM fungi shifted in community composition, with an environmental sorting of AM fungal taxa based on differential AM fungal adaptations to environmental conditions, leading to changes in AM fungal community composition. It has been shown that AM fungi may be more responsive to environmental conditions rather than their host plant (Worchel et al. 2013) and AM fungal isolates may produce fewer spores, arbuscules, or extra-radical hyphae, compared to other isolates (Antunes et al. 2010). Host plants shape distinctive AM fungal communities even when inoculated with the same AM fungal species (Bever et al. 1996; Uibopuu et al. 2009) and these altered communities have been shown to differentially impact growth of host plants (Bever 2002). As plants can allocate preferentially to the most beneficial fungal partner (Bever et al. 2009; Kiers et al. 2011), it is possible that switchgrass plants may alter AM fungal communities to promote their own success, selecting for fungal communities that are most beneficial when growing

under ambient conditions as compared to conditions of drought and increased temperatures.

One component of our understanding of sustainable feedstock production is providing empirical data to support the predictive assessments that switchgrass is a 'model' crop for the bioenergy industry throughout the southeastern and south central USA. This study clearly indicates switchgrass can be a productive bioenergy crop under extreme climate conditions, and is able to produce high quality biomass (based on cellulose:lignin ratios) under an array of fertilizer amendments. Importantly, switchgrass biomass quality and quantity were similar in treatments receiving no fertilizer applications, compared to either organic or inorganic fertilizations. Possibly due, at least in part, to their strong symbiotic relationship with mycorrhizal fungi, this study supports that switchgrass can produce high-yielding feedstocks with little or no fertilizer or irrigation.

References

- Akiyama, K., K. Matsuzaki and H. Hayashi. 2005. Plant sesquiterpenes induce hyphal branching in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. Nature 435: 824–827.
- Al-Karaki, G.N. and A. Al-Raddad. 1997. Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and drought stress on growth and nutrient uptake of two wheat genotypes differing in drought resistance. Mycorrhiza 7:81-88.
- Allen, M.F. 2011. Linking water and nutrients through the vadose zone: a fungal interface between the soil and plant systems. Journal of Arid Land 3:155-163.
- Antunes, P.M., A.M. Koch, J.B. Morton, M.C. Rillig and J.N. Klironomos. 2011. Evidence for functional divergence in arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi from contrasting climatic origins. New Phytologist 189: 507–514.
- Asai, H., B.K. Samson, H.M. Stephan, K. Songyikhangsuthor, K. Homma, Y. Kiyono, Y. Inoue, T. Shiraiwa, T. Horie. 2009. Biochar amendment techniques for upland rice production in Northern Laos 1. Soil physical properties, leaf SPAD and grain yield. Field Crops Research 111:81-84.
- Augé, R.M. 2004. Arbuscular mycorrhizae and soil/plant water relations. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 84: 373-381.
- Beale, C.V. and S.P. Long. 1997. Seasonal dynamics of nutrient accumulation and partitioning in the perennial C4-grasses *Miscanthus* x *giganteus* and *Spartina cynosuroides*. Biomass and Bioenergy. 12:419-428.
- Bell, C.W., V. Acosta-Martinez, N.E. McIntyre, S. Cox, D.T. Tissue and J.C. Zak. 2009. Linking microbial community structure and function to seasonal differences in soil moisture and temperature in a Chihuahuan desert grassland. Microbial Ecology 58: 827-842.
- Bever, J.D. 2002. Negative feedback within a mutualism: Host-specific growth of mycorrhizal fungi reduces plant benefit. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London 269: 2595-2601.

- Bever, J.D., J.B. Morton, J. Antonovics, and P. A. Schultz. 1996. Hostdependent sporulation and species diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in a mown grassland. Journal of Ecology. 84:71-82.
- Bever J.D., S.C. Richardson, B.M. Lawrence, J. Holmes, and M. Watson. 2009. Preferential allocation to beneficial symbiont with spatial structure maintains mycorrhizal mutualism. Ecology Letters. 12:13-21.
- Biomass Research and Development Board. 2008. National Biofuels Action Plan. Biomass Research and Development Board.
- Birkhofer, K., T. Diekötter, S. Boch, M. Fischer, J. Müller, S. Socher, and V. Wolters. 2011. Soil fauna feeding activity in temperate grassland soils increases with legume and grass species richness. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 43:2200–2207.
- Bligh,E.G. and W.J. Dyer. 1959. A rapid method for total lipid extraction and purification. Canadian Journal of Biochemistry and Physiology 37:911-917.
- Boateng, A. A., K.B. Hicks, K.P. Vogel. 2006. Pyrolysis of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) harvested at several stages of maturity. Journal of Analytical Applied Pyrolysis 75:55-64.
- Bossio D.A., K.M. Scow, N. Gunapala and K.J. Graham. 1998. Determinants of soil microbial communities: effects of agricultural management, season, and soil type on phospholipid fatty acid profiles. Microbiology and Ecology 36:1-12.
- Breidennich, C., D. Magraw, A. Rowley and J.W. Rubin. 1998. The Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. International Law 92:315-331. http://www.jstor.org/stable/2998044
- Chaves, M.M., J.P. Maroco, and J.S. Pereira. 2003. Understanding plant responses to drought - from genes to the whole plant. Functional Plant Biology. 30:239-264.
- Christian, D.G., A.B. Riche and N.E. Yeates. 2002. Growth, yield and mineral content of *Miscanthus* × *giganteus* grown as a biofuel for 14 successive harvests. Industrial Crops and Products 28:320-327.
- Clark, C.M., S. Hobbie, R. Venterea, and D. Tilman. 2009. Long-lasting effects on N cycling 12 years after treatments cease despite minimal N retention. Global Change Biology. 15:1755-1766.

- Compant, S., M.G. van der Heijden and A. Sessitsch. 2010. Climate change effects on beneficial plant-microorganism interactions. FEMS Microbiology and Ecology 73:197-214.
- Denef, K., J. Six, H. Bossuyt, S.D. Frey, E.T. Elliott, R. Merckx, and K. Paustian. 2001. Influence of dry–wet cycles on the interrelationship between aggregate, particulate organic matter, and microbial community dynamics. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 3, 1599–1611.
- Drenovsky, R.E., D. Vo, K.J. Graham, K.M. Scow. 2004. Soil water content and organic carbon availability are major determinants of soil microbial community composition. Microbiology and Ecology 48: 424-430.
- Edmeades, D.C. 2003. The long-term effects of manures and fertilizers on soil productivity and quality: a review. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 66:165-180.
- Edwards, E.J., C.P. Osborne, C.A.E. Strömberg, S.A. Smith. 2010. The Origins of C₄ Grasslands: Integrating Evolutionary and Ecosystem Science. Science 328:587-591.
- Eom, A.H., D.C. Hartnett and G.W.T. Wilson. 2000. Host plant species effects on arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in tallgrass prairie. Oecologia 122:435-444.
- Entry, J.A., P.T. Rygiewicz, L.S. Watrud, and P.K. Donnelly. 2002. Influence of adverse soil conditions on the formation and function of *Arbuscular* mycorrhizas. Advances in Environmental Research 7:123-138.
- Garten, C.T., Smith, J.L., Tyler, D.D., Amonette, J.E., Bailey, V.L., Brice, D.J., Castro, H.F., Graham, R.L., Gunderson, C.A., Izaurralde, R.C., Jardine, P.M., Jastrow, J.D., Kerley, M.K., Matamala, R., Mayes, M.A., Metting, F.B., Miller, R.M., Moran, K.K., Post, W.M., Sands, R.D., Schadt, C.W., Phillips, J.R., Thomson, A.M., Vugteveen, T., West, and T.O., Wullschleger, S.D., 2010. Intra-annual changes in biomass, carbon, and nitrogen dynamics at 4-year old switchgrass field trials in west Tennessee, USA. Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment. 136, 177–184.
- Gray, S. B., A.T. Classen, P. Kardol, Z. Yermakov and R.M. Miller. 2011. Multiple Climate Change Factors Interact to Alter Soil Microbial Community Structure in an Old-Field Ecosystem. Soil Science Society of America Journal 75:2217-2226.
- Guretzky, J.A., J.T. Biermacher, B.J. Cook, M.K. Kering and J. Mosali. 2011. Switchgrass for forage and bioenergy: harvest and nitrogen rate effects on

biomass yields and nutrient composition. Plant and Soil: An International Journal on Plant-Soil Relationships 339:69-81.

- Hallberg, G.R. 1989. Nitrate in groundwater in the United States. In: Nitrogen management and ground water protection. RF Follet (ed). Elsevier, Amsterdam, The Netherlands. pp. 35-74.
- Halvorson, A.D. and C.A. Reule. 1999. Long-term nitrogen fertilization benefits soil carbon sequestration. Better Crops 83: 16-20.
- Hammesfahr, U., R. Bierl, and S. Thiele-Bruhn. 2011. Manure and the antibiotic sulfadiazine are interacting on microbial biomass and structure. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 174:614-623.
- Harris, R.F. 1981. Effect of water potential on microbial growth and activity in soils. In: Parr, JF, WR Gardner and LF Elliot (Eds). Water Potential Relations in Soil Microbiology. Soil Science Society of America Journal. Madison, WI. pp. 23-96.
- Hartman, J.C., J.B. Nippert, R.A. Orozco and C.J. Springer. 2011. Potential ecological impacts of switchgrass (panicum virgatum L.) biofuel cultivation in the Central Great Plains, USA. Biomass and Bioenergy 35:3415-3423.
- Hawkes C.V., S.N. Kivlin, J.D. Rocca, V. Huguet, M.A. Thomsen, and K. B. Suttle. 2011. Fungal community responses to precipitation. Global Change Biology 17:1637-1645.
- Heaton E., T. Voigt and S.P. Long. 2004. A quantitative review comparing the yields of two candidate C4 perennial biomass crops in relation to nitrogen, temperature and water. Biomass and Bioenergy 27:21-30.
- Helgason T. and A.H. Fitter. 2009. Natural selection and the evolutionary ecology of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi (Phylum *Glomeromycota*). Journal of Experimental Botany 60: 2465–2480.
- Hill, J., E. Nelson, D. Tilman, S. Polasky and D. Tiffany. 2006. Environmental, economic, energetic costs and benefits of biodiesel and ethanol biofuels. PNAS 103:11206-11210.
- Hoekman, SK. 2009. Biofuels in the US Challenges and Opportunities. Renewable Energy 34:14-22.
- IPCC. 2007. Summary for Policy-makers, Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the IPCC. *In* B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer eds.

Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

- Jastrow, J.D. and R.M. Miller. 1998. Soil aggregate stabilization and carbon sequestration: feedbacks through organomineral associations. *In* R. Lal, J. Kimble, R. Follett & B.A. Stewart, eds. Advances in soil science: soil processes and the carbon cycle. pp. 207–223. Boca Raton, Florida, USA, CRC Press.
- Jessup, RW. 2009. Development and status of dedicated energy crops in the United States. In-Vitro Cell Development and Biology 45:282-290.
- Johnson, N.C., J.H. Graham and F.A. Smith. 1997. Functioning of mycorrhizal associations along the mutualism-parasitism continuum. New Phytology 135:575–586.
- Kachurina, O.M., H. Zhang, W.R. Raun, and E.G. Krenzer. 2000. Simultaneous determination of soil aluminum, ammonium- and nitrate-nitrogen using 1 M potassium chloride extraction. Communication Soil Science and Plant Analysis 31:893-903.
- Kiers, E.T., M. Duhamel, Y. Beesetty, J.A. Mensah, O. Franken, E. Verbruggen, C.R. Fellbaum, G.A. Kowalchuk, M.M. Hart, A. Bago, T.M. Palmer, S.A. West, P. Vandenkoornhuyse, J. Jansa, and H. Bücking. 2011. Reciprocal rewards stabilize cooperation in the mycorrhizal symbiosis. Science 333:880-882.
- Klironomos, J.N., MM Hart, JE Gurney, P. Moutoglis. 2001. Interspecific differences in the tolerance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi to freezing and drying. Canadian Journal of Botany 79: 1161–1166.
- Lal, 2008. Carbon Sequestration. Philosophical Transactions of Royal Society 363:815-830.
- Lee, D.K., V.N. Owens, and J.J. Doolittle. 2007. Switchgrass and soil carbon sequestration response to ammonium nitrate, manure, and harvest frequency on Conservation Reserve Program Land. Agronomy Journal 99: 462-468.
- Lemus, R., E.C. Brummer, K.J. Moore, N.E. Molstad, C.L. Burras, M.F. Barker. 2002. Biomass yield and quality of 20 switchgrass populations in Southern Iowa, USA. Biomass and Bioenergy 23:433-442.
- Lo´pez-Gutie´rrez J.C., G.M. Malcolm, R.T. Koide, and D.M. Eissenstat. 2008. Ectomycorrhizal fungi from Alaska and Pennsylvania: adaptation of

mycelial respiratory response to temperature? New Phytologist 180: 741-744.

- Lutgen, E.R., D. Muir-Clairmont, J. Graham and M.C. Rillig. 2003. Seasonality of arbuscular mycorrhizal hyphae and glomalin in a western Montana grassland. Plant and Soil 257:71-83.
- McLaughlin S.B. and L.A. Kszos. 2005. Development of switchgrass (*Panicum virgatum*) as a bioenergy feedstock in the United States. Biomass and Bioenergy 28:515-535.
- McLaughlin S.B. and M.E. Walsh. 1998. Evaluating environmental consequences of producing herbaceous crops for bioenergy. Biomass and Bioenergy 14:317-324.
- Miller, R.M., J.D. Jastrow and D.R. Reinhardt. 1995. External hyphal production of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in pasture and tallgrass prairie communities. Oecologia 103:17-23.
- Miller, R.M., S.P. Miller, J.D. Jastrow, C.B. Rivetta. 2002. Mycorrhizal mediated feedbacks influence net carbon gain and nutrient uptake in *Andropogon gerardii*. New Phytologist 155: 149-162.
- Miller, R.M. and J.D. Jastrow. 2000. Mycorrhizal fungi influence soil structure. *In*: Arbuscular Mycorrhizas: Physiology and Function. Y. Kapulnik and D. Douds Jr. (eds). Springer, Netherlands. pp. 3-18.
- Mohammadi, K., G. Heidari S. Khalesro and Y. Sohrabi. 2011. Soil management, microorganisms and organic matter interactions: a review. African Journal of Biotechnology 10(84):19840-19849.
- Mulvaney, R.L. 1996. Nitrogen-inorganic forms. In Sparks et al (ed.) Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 3, Chemical Methods. SSSA Inc. Madison, WI. Pp. 1123-1184.
- Nyakatawa, E.Z., D. A. Mays, V.R. Tolbert, T.H. Green, and L. Bingham. 2006. Runoff, sediment, nitrogen, and phosphorus losses from agricultural land converted to sweetgum and switchgrass bioenergy feedstock production in north Alabama. Biomass and Bioenergy 30: 655-664.
- Olsson, P.A., J. Rahm and N. Aliasgharzad. 2010. Carbon dynamics in mycorrhizal symbioses is linked to carbon costs and phosphorus benefits. FEMS Microbiology and Ecology 72:125-131.

- Owens, H., J. LaFantasiea and P.B. Adler. 2012. Mycorrhization rates of two grasses following alterations in moisture inputs in a southern mixed grass prairie. Applied Soil Ecology 60:56-60.
- Parrish DJ, JH Fike. 2005. The biology and agronomy of switchgrass for biofuels. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 24:423-459.
- Pendall, E., S. Bridgham, P.J. Hanson, B. Hungate, D.W. Kicklighter, D.W. Johnson, B. E. Law, Y.Q. Luo, J.P. Megonigal, M. Olsrud, M.G. Ryan, and S.Q. Wan. 2004. Below-ground process responses to elevated CO2 and temperature: a discussion of observations, measurement methods, and models. New Phytologist 162: 311-322.
- Pittman, J.J., H. Zhang, J. Schroder, M. Payton. 2005. Differences of Phosphorus in Mehlich 3 Extracts Determined by Colorimetric and Spectroscopic Methods. Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis 36: 1641–1659.
- Querejeta, J.I., L.M. Egerton-Warbuton and M.F. Allen. 2009. Topographic position modulates the mycorrhizal response of oak to interannual rainfall variability. Ecology 90:649-662.
- Reynolds, J.H., C.L. Walker and M.J. Kirchner. 2000. Nitrogen removal in switchgrass biomass under two harvest systems. Biomass and Bioenergy 19:281-286.
- Rillig, M.C. and M.F. Allen. 1999. What is the role of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in plant-to-ecosystem responses to elevated atmospheric CO₂? Mycorrhiza 9:1-8.
- Rillig, M.C. and D.L. Mummey 2006. Mycorrhiza and soil structure. Tansley Review. New Phytologist 171: 41-53.
- Robinson, C.H. 2001. Cold adaptation in Arctic and Antarctic fungi. New Phytologist 151: 341-353.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J.M. and R. Azcon. 1996. Mycorrhizal colonization and drought stress exposition as factors affecting nitrate reductase activity in lettuce plants. Agriculture, Ecosystem and Environment 60:175-181.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J.M., R. Azcon and M. Gomez. 1995. Effects of arbuscular mycorrhizal Glomus species on drought tolerance: physiological and nutritional responses. Applied Environmental Microbiology 61:456-460.

- Schimel J.P., W.J. Scott and K. Killham 1989. Changes in cytoplasmic carbon and nitrogen pools in s soil bacterium and a fungus in response to salt stress. Applied Environmental Microbiology 55:1635-1637.
- Six, J., K. Paustian, E.T. Elliott and C. Combrink. 2000. Soil structure and soil organic matter: I. Distribution of aggregate size classes and aggregate associated carbon. Soil Science Society of America Journal 64: 681-689.
- Smith, S.E., F.A. Smith and I. Jakobsen. 2003. Mycorrhizal Fungi Can Dominate Phosphate Supply to Plants Irrespective of Growth Responses. Plant Physiology 133:16-20.
- Smith, S.E. and D.J. Read. 1997. Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. Academic Press, San Diego, CA.
- Staddon, P.L., K. Thompson, I. Jakobsen, J.P. Grime, A.P. Askew and A.H. Fitter. 2003. Mycorrhizal fungal abundance is affected by long-term climatic manipulations in the field. Global Change Biology 9:186-194.
- Sticklen, M.B. 2008. Plant genetic engineering for biofuel production: towards affordable cellulosic ethanol. Nature Review Genetics 9:433-443.
- Thomason, W.E., W.R. Raun, G.V. Johnson, C.M. Taliaferro, K.W. Freeman, K.J. Wynn and R.W. Mullen 2004. Switchgrass response to harvest frequency and time and rate of applied N. J Plant Nutri. 2004. 27:1199-226.
- Thiele-Bruhn, S., J. Bloem, F. De Vries, K. Kalbitz, and C. Wagg. 2012. Linking soil biodiversity and agricultural management. In: Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 4:523-528.
- Tilman, D., J. Hill, and C. Lehman. 2006. Carbon-negative biofuels from low input high-diversity grassland biomass. Science 314:1598-1600.
- Tidall, J.M. and J.M. Oades. 1982. Organic matter and water stable aggregates in soils. Journal of Soil Science 33:141-163.
- Uibopuu, A., M. Moora, U. Saks, T. Daniell, M. Zobel, and M. Öpik. 2009. Differential effect of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities from ecosystems along management gradient on the growth of forest understorey plant species. Soil Biology & Biochemistry 41:2141–2146.
- Vitousek, P.M., J.D. Aber, R. W. Howarth, G.E. Likens, P. A. Matson, D.W. Schindler, W.H. Schlesinger, and D.G. Tilman 1997. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. Ecological Applications 7:737–750.

- Welbaum, G.E., A.V. Sturz, Z. Dong, and J. Nowak. 2004. Managing soil microorganisms to improve productivity of agro-ecosystems. Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences 23:175-193.
- White, D.C., W.M. Davis, J.S. Nickels, J.D. King and R.J. Bobbie. 1979. Determination of the sedimentary microbial biomass by extractable lipid phosphate. Oecologia 4:51-62.
- Williams, MA. 2007. Response of microbial communities to water stress in irrigated and drought-prone tallgrass prairie soils. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 39:2750-2757.
- Wilson, G.W.T., C.W. Rice, M.C. Rillig, A. Springer and D.C. Hartnett. 2009. Soil aggregation and carbon sequestration are tightly correlated with the abundance of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi: results from long-term field experiments. Ecology Letters 12:452-461.
- Wilson, G.W.T. and D.C. Hartnett. 1997. Effects of Mycorrhizae on Plant Growth and Dynamics in Experimental Tallgrass Prairie Microcosms. American Journal of Botany 84:478-482.
- Wilson, G.W.T. and D.C. Hartnett. 1998. Interspecific variation in plant responses to mycorrhizal colonization in tallgrass prairie. American Journal of Botany 85:1732-1738.
- Worchel, E., H.E. Giauque and S.N. Kivlin. 2013. Fungal symbionts alter plant drought response. Microbial Ecology 65:671-678.
- Wright, D.P., J.D. Scholes and D.J. Read. 1998. Effects of VA mycorrhizal colonization on photosynthesis and biomass production of *Trifolium repens* L. Plant Cell Environ 21:209-216.
- Wright, L. and A. Turhollow. 2010. Switchgrass selection as a "model" bioenergy crop: A history of the process. Biomass and Bioenergy 34:851-868.
- Wu, Q.S. and R.X. Xia. 2006. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi influence growth, osmotic adjustment and photosynthesis of citrus under well-watered and water stress conditions. Journal of Plant Physiology 163:417-425.
- Zhu, Y.G. and M. Miller. 2003. Carbon cycling by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in soil-plant systems. Trends in Plant Sciences 8:407-409.

	Shoot Biomass	Root biomass	Root:Shoot	
	(g)	(g)	Ratio	
Climate	ns	ns	ns	
Fertilizer	ns	*	ns	
Climate*Fertilizer	ns	ns	ns	
Climate				
Ambient	25.41	29.98	1.18	
Warmer drier	25	31.50	1.26	
Fertilizer				
Control	25.51	24.23 b	0.95	
Nitrogen	20.13	23.95 c	1.19	
NPK	29.91	37.99 a	1.27	
Poultry litter	25.57	37.59 a	1.47	

Table 3.1. The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer and drier) and fertilizer on switchgrass root biomass, and root:shoot ratio.

* indicate level of significance at 0.05 probability and ns = non-significant. Means followed by different letters within each column are significant at alpha = 0.05.

	Cellulose	Cellulose Hemicellulose Lignin		Cellulose:Lignin	
-		(%)		Ratio	
Climate	*	ns	ns	ns	
Fertilizer	*	ns	ns	ns	
Climate*Fertilizer	*	ns	ns	*	
Climate					
Ambient	30.48 b	25.88	5.61	5.54	
Warmer, drier	31.67 a	25.81	5.84	5.55	
Fertilizer					
Control	32.45 a	25.61	5.64	5.84	
Nitrogen	29.96 b	25.86	5.57	5.66	
NPK	30.51 b	25.38	5.86	5.23	
Poultry litter	31.37 a	25.92	5.82	5.45	

Table 3.2. The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer on the cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin content (%) and cellulose:lignin of switchgrass.

* indicate level of significance at 0.05 probability and ns = non-significant. Means followed by different letters within each column are significant at alpha = 0.05.



Figure 3.1. The effects of climate (warmer, drier vs ambient) and fertilizer (C=control/non-fertilized, N = nitrogen, NPK = nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium applied, PL = poultry litter) on the cellulose:lignin of switchgrass. Different letters above each column are significant at alpha=0.05.

Table 3.3. The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer on soil biological properties - microbial biomass using PLFA and expressed as nmol g⁻¹ of soil.

	Gram	Gram	AMF	Saprophytic	Total	Fungi:	Gn B
	Positive	Negative		Fungi	Microbial	Bacteria	Stress
	Bacteria	Bacteria			Biomass	Ratio	
Climate	ns	ns	*	ns	ns	*	ns
Fertilizer	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Climate*Fertilizer	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Climate							
Ambient	15	1.17	0.7a	0.75	18	0.09 a	0.28
Warmer, drier	15	0.49	0.4b	0.55	16	0.06 b	0.09
Fertilizer							
Control	15	0.47	0.55	0.57	16	0.07	0.07
Nitrogen	14	0.56	0.39	0.55	16	0.07	0.06
NPK	16	0.76	0.65	0.78	18	0.09	0.08
Poultry litter	15	1.51	0.56	0.68	17	0.08	0.53

* indicate level of significance at 0.05 probability, and ns = non-significant. Means followed by different letters within each column are significant at alpha = 0.05.

	Soil pH	NO ₃ -N	P mg kg ⁻¹	K	SOM (%)
Climate	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Fertilizer	ns	*	*	ns	ns
Climate*Fertilizer	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns
Climate					
Ambient	7.9	8	0.57	159	0.53
Warmer, drier	7.9	10	0.65	158	0.52
Fertilizer					
Control	7.9	2 c	0.31b	160	0.56
Nitrogen	7.8	21 a	0.25 b	154	0.49
NPK	7.8	11 a	1.00 a	156	0.53
` Poultry litter	7.9	1 c	0.89 a	162	0.52

Table 3.4. The effects of climate (ambient vs warmer, drier) and fertilizer on soil chemical properties.

* indicate level of significance at 0.05 probability and ns = non-significant. Different letters within each column and variable indicate means are significantly different at alpha = 0.05.

VITA

MA. LOURDES S. EDAÑO

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Thesis: EFFECTS OF NUTRIENT SOURCES, HARVEST FREQUENCY, AND ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS ON SWITCHGRASS PRODUCTION AND SOIL PROPERTIES

Major Field: SOIL SCIENCE

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Soil Science at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December, 2013.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Agronomy at the University of the Philippines Los Baños, Laguna, Philippines in 2003.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Agriculture at the University of the Philippines Los Baños, Laguna, Philippines in 1995.

Experience:

- Graduate Research Assistant, Department of Plant and Soil Sciences, Oklahoma State University 2009-2013
- Graduate Teaching Assistant, Department of Plant and Soil Sciences, Oklahoma State University Spring 2013
- Assistant Professor, Crop Science Cluster, University of the Philippines Los Baños, Laguna, Philippines 2004-2009
- University Research Associate, Department of Agronomy University of the Philippines Los Baños, Laguna, Philippines 1995-2004

Professional Memberships:

Soil Science Society of America

2010-present 2010-present

- Agronomy Society of America
- Gamma Sigma Delta Honor Society in Agriculture